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Ms. Wong Lai Ling

2 4 R e B A B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



HMZE

HRERISE (TH)
F LA
FRER L

RAZRE

ESBSEE (TH)
FRBLE
B $05

B i

L A P A R R
AL M 2547 F it B BT

[3UE R

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

o AT R R

w5

AT

Eh e

4 i 1 5 B8 355 33

AR

Corporate Information
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Mr. Wong Kam Fai
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

M. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)
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Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
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Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

33/F, Golden Wheel International Plaza
No. 8, Hanzhong Road

Nanjing

China
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IN HONG KONG
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Sea View Estate

8 Watson Road
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Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Jiangsu
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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IR@gwtd.com.hk
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Chairman’s Statement

\ A COMPANY LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KO
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (“Golden Wheel” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), I hereby present
the annual results of Golden Wheel for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the

“Year”) to our shareholders.
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Nanjing Golden Wheel
Romantic Tower
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Chairman’s Statement

OVERALL REVIEW

Founded in 2012, the Company is based in Nanjing with a primary focus on the
Chinese market, and has successfully extended its operations to eight cities spanning
two provinces, including Nanjing, Yangzhou, Suzhou, Wuxi, Changzhou and
Lianyungang in Jiangsu Province, as well as Changsha and Zhuzhou in Hunan
Province. Adhering to the corporate culture of “making life more enjoyable
through people-oriented principle, prudent yet enterprising spirit, integrity and
pragmaticism”, the Company, as a builder, is full of enthusiasm and eager to create

a harmonious, healthy and enjoyable life for people.

2023 4E % ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Looking back on 2023, we experienced turbulence in the changing situation and
moved forward amidst difficulties. It was an extremely challenging year for the
Group where we encountered unprecedented tests. In 2023, the sales of the real
estate industry remained sluggish after a short boom in the first quarter, and the
real estate market continued to decline thereafter. At the beginning of the year, the
central government continued to adhere to the principle of “housing is for living
in, not for speculation,” implemented differentiated policies according to local
conditions, and continued to loosen regulatory policies to promote the healthy
development of the real estate industry. However, due to significant shifts in the
supply and demand of the real estate market, the central government introduced
a policy to “recognize households with mortgage records but no local property
ownership as first-time homebuyers” in July, issued Circular 14 in October to dial
up the protection of housing construction and supply, and proposed the “Three Not
Less Than” policy ( [ =l A KA ] B %) in November to meet the reasonable
financing needs of real estate enterprises. Although there is noticeable support from
the central government policies to loosen regulatory, the effect on the recovery of
real estate environment is limited in the short term. Affected by the slowdown
in economic growth and insufficient market confidence, residents’ willingness to
purchase homes and take out loans is weak, and the real estate industry is hardly

optimistic at the current stage.

L SR

Golden Wheel
Binary Star Plaza
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2023, the weak economic recovery and the effects of various adverse factors
in the real estate market and financial environment have posed severe challenges
to the business development of the Group, resulting in a significant decrease in
contracted sales. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group only achieved
total contracted sales of RMB940.7 million (2022: RMB1,641.4 million). Property
leasing and hotel operation business of the Group remained relatively stable when
compared with last year. Average occupancy rates of the year for property leasing and
hotel operation were 83.5% (2022: 83.0%) and 83.4% (2022: 64.1%) respectively.

Due to debt extensions on the end of the domestic real estate enterprises, there has
been a frequent occurrence of contract defaults leading to a continuous decline in
confidence among investors and consumers. Apart from a significant decrease in
residential property contracted sales, the Group also experienced declines in cash
recovery rates, which reflects the ongoing deterioration of the real estate market.
The sluggish market further hindered the Group’s ability to generate cash from
sales of developed properties. After the severe challenges posed by the COVID-19
control and preventive measures, the Group still have to face further difficulties such
as the weak economic recovery and the risk of debt defaults. In March 2023, the
Group announced the restructuring of its senior notes, which, upon completion, will
improve the Group’s financial position and sustainability and allow the Group to
resume its daily operations. Despite the challenging situation, the Group continued
to ensure the construction and delivery of its three projects, namely Wuxi Golden
Wheel Starry Plaza, Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion and Nanjing Golden
Wheel Galaxy Centre (lot A1, A2 and A4) which were completed and delivered by
2023.

Outlook

Due to the increasingly difficult economic conditions and financial instability, it is
expected that housing sales will remain sluggish and weak in the coming months.
Although the Chinese government has implemented several measures to support
the real estate industry, but the effectiveness of the attempts remains uncertain as
consumers still lack confidence. It is expected that the industry will continue to
struggle and remain weak in the coming years, which, coupled with the tightening
of liquidity and aggressive pricing strategies among major real estate developers
in China, means that the Group’s business will still be facing a lot of challenges in
2024.

2023 4E E# % ANNUAL REPORT 2023 9
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Nevertheless, the Group will develop projects with minority interests, increase the
number of contracted construction projects, pursue suitable asset-light commercial
management projects as well as expand the business of certain hotels. The Group will
continue to adopt a more cautious land acquisition strategy and conduct cooperation
in the project developments to reduce investment risks and ensure effective cash
flow management. The Group will actively engage with financial institutions for the
prudent disposal of assets, actively promote debt restructuring of senior notes, and
continue to accelerate property sales and recover sales proceeds, while maintaining
stricter cost control measures to reduce capital expenditures as appropriate and strive
to ensure timely delivery of properties. With its prudent financial management, we
believe that the Group will maintain competitiveness for future development and

expansion.

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

26 March 2024
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Hi 5 NANJING
T T3 Completed properties
o S 2 8 B Golden Wheel International Plaza
o &8 K Golden Wheel Building
o 4% 3% 2 [F Golden Wheel Green Garden
o B 5% 35 % £ [ Nanjing Jade Garden
o S U H B HE Golden Wheel New Metro
o &85 64 Golden Wheel Star Plaza
o i £ 3. 77 Golden Wheel Star-cube
o &8 TR A% %E TT Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu
o 58 B i ¥} Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza
o B 5 IR 1 ] Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu
o 7 07 G2 i I 3 44 5 Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower
o B 5% 4 i /K B3 B Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting
o T 5 4 #i 2 9E ZE FE Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting
o MR EH R B PD (AL A2, A4HLBY)
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center (lots A1, A2, A4)

PH % th 4 % Properties under development

o FE R H 2P0 (A3, BHLEY)
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center (lots A3, B)

T 5 4848 2 45 B Hotel operation and management

o 7 3% 42 i 58 2 3 15 Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel
o B 5T 4 R T S Nanjing Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott

H AL 5 Metro leasing
o L1352 1 metro station

$i M YANGZHOU

% T3 Completed properties
o 5 B i R 3R
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Star City
o N ELRE A H G
Yangzhou Powerlong Golden Wheel Plaza
o %51 1 5% [ Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House
o B # B R K 2 ) Yangzhou Vanke Future Light
o B34 ¥ 1 9% Yangzhou No.1 Golden Bay
o B B [ Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion

G
HUNAN

kY
CHANGSHA «

L3
ZHUZHOU

7 B I S A

Management Discussion and Analysis

# M suzHoU

Ho S B Metro leasing
o 44 35 2 4 metro stations

P WUXI
T T3 Completed properties

o 83} 5 ¥ B2 )44 . Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza
o J1E.85) 5 e 1 O T
Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden
o BB B E %W
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza
Ho S B Metro leasing

o 34 35 2 3 metro stations

% M CHANGZHOU

T T3 Completed properties
o HEMEERE Changzhou Junwang Jia Di

B2 [TAN YUNGANG

% T3 Completed properties
o ¥ #8045 Shangdu Fengjing
o &2 i B IRE A8 K ¥ Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion

P % vh 4y 3 Properties under development

o ¥ i S Shangpin Xuefu
o St AR AC R P (S8 D)
Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion (S8 building)

L85
JIANGSU

o g
LIAN YUNGANG

i
YANGZHOU

B Ao El3 )

NANJING WUXI
WM ‘ g
CHANGZHOU %7100
L
JIANGSU

IR

HUNAN

R CHANGSHA
2% T4 Completed properties

o RVP 4R A4 JE Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

# ¥ zHUZHOU
2% T4 3 Completed properties

o Bk 445 35 2% 4 [ Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden
o BRI 428 B A 2E R (— ) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase I)
o BRI 4 8w A N (—391) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase IT)

2023 4E it ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Contracted sales

The Group currently has mainly 13 projects on sale. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group and its joint ventures and associates achieved total
contracted sales value and contracted sales area of approximately RMB940.7 million
(2022: RMB1,641.4 million) and approximately 79,417 sq.m. (2022: 143,757

sq.m.), respectively.

Projects completed during 2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had managed to complete and
deliver three projects, namely, Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Centre (lot Al,
A2 and A4), Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza and Golden Wheel Shangdu Age
City Mansion. Aggregate saleable gross floor area (‘GFA”) of the newly completed
projects amounted to approximately 328,000 sq.m. As at 31 December 2023, an
aggregate GFA of approximately 188,641 sq.m. of these newly completed projects

was sold and delivered.

New land acquired during 2023 in mainland China
As affected by the economic downturn, the Group adopted a more prudent approach
in new land acquisition during 2023. As a result, the Group did not acquire any

new land nor invest in any new joint venture or associate during the year.

1 2 4 R e B A B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Projects by subsidiaries of the Group

FaR/ES

Completed properties
SRS

Golden Wheel International Plaza
4 (N

Golden Wheel Building
EHRER

Golden Wheel Green Garden
SR

Golden Wheel Star City

MR HRAR

Nanjing Jade Garden

SR IE

Golden Wheel New Metro
SEEILA N

Golden Wheel Star Plaza
Rk R AT

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden
EHEHELA R

Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza
WAL

Golden Wheel Star-cube
SR

Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

R GBI E

Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza
L EE]

Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House
SWET RIS

Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza

Wl

City

[0
Nanjing
[ZE:S
Nanjing
RS
Nanjing
Ll
Yangzhou
[
Nanjing
[0S
Nanjing
At
Nanjing
PR
Zhuzhou
L3
Wuxi
LS
Nanjing
R
Nanjing
=30
Changsha
Bl
Yangzhou
Al
Nanjing

Land bank of the Group

ventures and associates.

December 2023:

{74 .74
flit &% il & %
WEWE  RTAM ZTHM R TIA

Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated
construction construction

commencement completion  Percentage of

Site area date date completion
Frk E5 £
sq.m. month/year month/year

1341 FNELH FAE-A 100%
Jul-04 Jan-09

4918 F—HRH  FEFEJ] 100%
May-01 Feb-03

10334 ZF—HAH  FZELA 100%
Aug-01 Sep-02

81,615 F/NEAH  —HEZ] 100%
Aug-08 Mar-14

7212 ——H—f —ZH+°A 100%
Jan-11 Dec-13

9218 ——HAH —ZF+A 100%
Aug-11 Dec-13

29540 ——#F+—H  —HEAA 100%
Nov-11 Jun-14

45,645 —HEFZH  —AFEF A 100%
Dec-14 Dec-18

31981 —MEFZH —AREHTH 100%
Dec-14 Dec-16

18300 ~MHEFZH  —AETZA 100%
Dec-14 Dec-16

46,228 —ME+-H —LEFTH 100%
Dec-14 Dec-17

37,152 ~W&E+ZH  —t4F+ZA 100%
Dec-14 Dec-17

10682 —tEA] —IELA 100%
Jun-17 May-19

9,588 —MUFE+—H —HETZA 100%
Dec-14 Dec-19

FNE
EHEmHE,
A e 5t

Total unsold
GFA/

Total GFA
FHK

sq.m.

212

3,367

121
6,472
3,426

403

2023 4E it ANNUAL
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GFA held for
Company’s
own use
Ik

sq.m.

2,208

10,307

19977

Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total land bank of approximately 856,447
sq.m., including approximately 216,630 sq.m. of completed but unsold properties,
approximately 32,492 sq.m. of own used properties, approximately 128,877 sq.m. of
completed investment properties, approximately 186,831 sq.m. of properties under

development and approximately 291,617 sq.m. of properties developed by the joint

The following table sets forth an overview of the Group’s property projects as at 31

BEWE
S

Investment
properties
GFA
FIKk

sq.m.

32,562

85

3,037
2,840

18,357

4,833
1,838
1,713
13,078
3,777

24,403

REPORT 2023 13
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{74 ({74 FNEE Fife
fliat iR fliat i #EWH,/  ANIAM REE
ARG 4 7 2T H it WRER LA BLHY RLWH  EREEE  WEREEE A
Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated
construction construction Total unsold ~ GFA held for Investment
commencement completion  Percentage of GFA/ Company’s properties
Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area date date completion Total GFA own use GFA
E/ES #h A S/ES Fak VoK
sq.m. month/year month/year sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
EEA ) i) 70989 —tF+ZA —UETTA 100% 1471 - =
Wusxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Wuxi Dec-17 Dec-19
Orchid Garden
PR 6 b FEAS Y (—H40) e 54793 —AFEZER ZEETTA 100% 9,323 - 2,166
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu Zhuzhou Mar-18 Dec-20
(Phase I)
R A B U 2 A At 759 —t&+=R  Z—FAAR 100% 8,329 - -
Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower ~ Nanjing Dec-17 Jun-21
2 B K B HiAl 3021 —\EWA %4 100% 5,666 - =
Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting Nanjing Apr-18 Jan-21
el & AR HE Y (Z9) 3 37382 —MNEZEA CTEARA 100% 6402 = 1,022
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu Zhuzhou Mar-18 Jun-22
(Phase IT)
B R B R R [ 59722 —NAEMA  ZZE-A 100% 26817 = 2,500
Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting Nanjing Apr-19 Jan-22
DA Sk Hil 19800 —FHF—H ZZHETZA 100% 5,301 = -
Yangzhou No. 1 Golden Bay Yangzhou Jan-20 Dec-22
BRERERTL [k 12982 “FEZA ZZ4AA 100% 28,784 = =
(A1~ A2 B A4HLED)
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center Nanjing Feb-20 Jun-23
(Lot A1, A2, A4)
I35y 4 22 % ) L3 7410 —NELA ZEFTA 100% 60,638 = 16,666
Wauxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza Wuxi May-19 May-23
<5 R IR 1K P Lk 691925 A =AE S HIRE =i o 100% 33,271 = =
Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion ~ Lianyungan Jan-21 Dec-23
NG 747 427 216,630 32,492 128,877
Subtotal
LELR7ES
Project under development
B G B D (A3 BB IBBY) [ 84666 “FEH HWETH 45% 137,813 - 46,647
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center Nanjing Feb-20 Dec-24
(Lot A3 and B)
Eot L PN GANINED) BT 2311 Z—H#-8 ZHW%=R 90% 2371 = =
Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion ~ Lianyungang Jan-21 Mar-24 90%
(S8 building)
NG 87,037 140,184 - 46,647
Subtotal
st 834,464 356,814 32,492 175,524
Total

4 R e B A B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Wit Hu R 74 ({74 AN FNEE Fife REE
fliat iR fliat i #EWH,/  ANTAM S
T BRLAM MR WE SR
City Site area Actual/ Actual/  Percentage of  Totalunsold  GFA held for Investment
estimated estimated completion GFA/ Company’s properties
construction construction Total GFA own use GFA
commencement completion
date date
Kk #h A S/ES SES Fak
sq.m. month/year month/year sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
FRAEREEARZEA
Projects by joint ventures and associates
B b B B 61275 —MELZA —AFETZA 100% 74,055 = 51,402
Yangzhou Powetlong Golden Yangzhou Dec-14 Dec-16
Wheel Plaza "
R R L 32 [Gh 14338 —LHEFA —UEEA 100% 3,540 = =
Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu V<~ Nanjing Oct-17 Jul-19
AR B Ll 67,00 —tHE+ZA  ZFHERA 100% 42373 - -
Changzhou Junwang Jia Di ¥ Changzhou Dec-17 May-20
Pil R RS 2R Bl 47137 —/NERH Z—FEA 100% 8,680 = =
Vanke Future Lighe 2 Yangzhou Jun-18 Apr-21
1 e St L 17,605 “FENA ZTHERA 100% 13,109 - -
Shangdu Fengjing "’ Lianyungang Apr-20 Jun-22
i A A Bl ST548 ZHEZA 0 ZEAEAA 100% 63,757 - -
Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion ¥ Yangzhou Feb-21 Jun-23
I i R Lk 15279 Z—ER ZIEARA 95% 34,701 - -
Shangpin Xuefu ¥ Lianyungang Jul-21 Jun-24
At 280,407 240,215 = 51,402
Total
B 5E Notes:
1 B 0E B A B 40% IHE 2 S8 0B ; The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49% interest.
2 IE H f A B A 25% BERE 2 W N 7 B 5 o ! The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25% interest.
5 IEE RAREEEEA 13.33% B2 Bias /N 5 B8 o 2 The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33% interest.
4 SIE H i A SE B 200 R HE 2 A A LB o & The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20% interest.
5 A H i A SE B 100 R HE 2 B0 /N A B S o ’ The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 10% interest.
6 F0E B B A G 24.5% ERE 2 A& A BB o 6 The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 24.5%
interest.
7 SIE H p A B A 209 BERE 2 W% N B B B o ! The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 20% interest.

WoZE - =FE+-HA=1T—H AL£FEAHH As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a land bank of approximately 186,831
186,831 77 K fh = b 5 £ 1 A6 B 8% o 5% %5 Bl sq.m. under development. Among these parcels of land, approximately 84,484
Hoh s #184.484°F 75 K ~ 55,700 F 77 K K 46,647 sq.m., 55,700 sq.m. and 46,647 sq.m. are for commercial and office, car park and
ST KA RIE BT 2 N E S 2D R investment properties purposes, respectively.

EYISEM % -
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ES R
BE_Z-_=H#1T-_A=Z1T—HLHEE > 5%
BB EHEMIGENARK 2134208
TG #9208,660°F J K I MR SR E AR O & i 58
it - ZECEVENTFHHEERZEG KLY
NE#10,228.27C °

MoB-=F+-HA=+—H RERAHH
AR A R S217 T BT o %R TR A 40 B
0 0 A =% AR AR B E 5 T B A
BT DA -

YEME
R_Z_=#+_A=+—0 > AEEHELC
BTHEENEL 128877 FHARZBEYE -
AEEAR-FE_ZHFT AT —HREWE
2T R A 84.09 o

Hh BB N A B

IR ZZEF A=t —H s AEHEDE
SRR (R R A~ BR N A S) B A 8 I Hh 55
ol ) rp O AR s A G A > S
P e A S T G R A8 34,285 T 7 K o

MRoFE=ZHEF A=+ —H s EY
DIEFEEE > BB R E79.6% -

BREEKNMEE ) AEIEEN AR
3 7 B 354 5 2 0 O o L O

BHGH -

% 1

RZFZ=ZFFZAZ+H—H AEEEEN
RS0 0 > B P At i e R I RV e A T
RIS G~ 55 O < A T LKA S e
St BRI o %0 T FA 5 ] AR 674 ]
RS R - F = FR PR EAERE
83.4% °

Property sales

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue from sales of properties
amounted to approximately RMB2,134.2 million with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 208,660 sq.m. being sold and delivered. The average selling price of
these sold properties amounted to approximately RMB10,228.2 per sq.m.

As at 31 December 2023, there were total unrecognized contracted sales of
RMB521.7 million. The unrecognized contracted sales are expected to be recognized

in 2024 as and when the related projects are completed and delivered.

Property leasing
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had completed investment properties with
a total GFA of approximately 128,877 sq.m. The average occupancy rate of the

Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2023 was over 84.0%.

Metro leasing and operational management business

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had leasing and operational management
contracts of 8 metro station shopping malls in three cities in China, namely,
Nanjing, Suzhou, Wuxi. The Group had metro station shopping malls with a total
GFA of over 34,285 sq.m.

As at 31 December 2023, metro station shopping malls were under operations and

the overall occupancy rate was approximately 79.6%.

In view of its potential higher growth, the Group will continue to actively bid for
more leasing and operational management contracts of metro station shopping malls

in different cities.

Hotel operation

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had four hotels under operation, namely,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel in Nanjing, Golden Wheel Hampton by
Hilton in Changsha, Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in Yangzhou and Nanjing
Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott. The total number of rooms for these four hotels

amounted to 674. The average room occupancy rate of these four hotels in 2023 was

83.4%.

16 A K b B A B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Significant investments held

The Group considers desirable investment opportunities from time to time, taking

into account interests of the Group and its shareholders as a whole.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s major investment was its equity investment
in the shares of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., which were 50.8 million (2022:
50.8 million) unlisted equity shares of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. with a
carrying value of RMB131.3 million (2022: RMB198.1 million).

Breach of loan agreements and cross defaults under certain loan
facilities
Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 3 November 2022,

10 July 2023 and 21 December 2023.

On 9 December 2022, the Group received a demand notice to pay the bank
loans of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB278,584,000) and
HK$374,680,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB334,690,000) which were
originally due on 31 August 2022 and the maturity date was extended to 31
October 2022. These bank loans are pledged by the Group’s completed property for
sale amounting to RMB877,095,000 as at 31 December 2022. After the appointment
of receivers, the Group has lost the control over Success Seeker Limited, Winner
Year Company Limited and Bright Jade Group, subsidiaries of the Group. The
receivers arranged for a tender process for the sale of the pledged property, Golden
Wheel Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong Kong (i.e. Hong Kong Golden
Wheel Plaza). Under a conditional agreement dated 13 November 2023, entered
into an agreement for the acquisition of the pledged property was agreed to be sold
to an independent third party at a consideration of HK$511,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB471,142,000). This transaction was completed on 12 January
2024. Up to the date of this report, the Group has not repaid the bank loans of
US$40,000,000 and the Company is not aware of any other material enforcement
actions taken by the bank. In addition, the Group failed to repay an accumulated
interest of US$80,232,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB558,784,000) on
the senior notes during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: US$34,139,000
equivalent to approximately RMB237,763,000). The senior note holders have
not exercised their rights to require immediate redemption of the senior notes or

payment of interest.

2023 4E % ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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E§$$¢H% R N R 3,970,980,000 7T
i“@ N H4,148,222,000 7C) 2 B L2
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176 REAE A 48 B A T B oK MR B0 IRr 1 5 -
WES D HM Ay XEEEMHEEE - AEAK
Wk H A > SRAT I AEAT O HER A ORI B o

MoE-=E+_A=+—0  AEENRT
24 N R #1,020,042,000 78 T3 DL A 42 [ 480
TR B 2% %1 N R ¥ 5,177,132,000 TG 1 H 3 (BLEE 4
EWE Rk BEVE HEPHEYE
KRERTRHENE) KBREFERMN - EEEET
DA 4 T K 358 0 7E o B0 5T A0 5 M RS A AR A
R LR AR O

HAZHEIH
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#2(b) K 40 P 77 o
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Up to the date of this report, senior notes and bank loans with an aggregate amount
of RMB3,970,980,000 (2022: RMB4,148,222,000) are default or cross-default
and repayable on demand. Those defaulted or cross-defaulted bank loans were
secured by the Group’s assets with an amount of approximately RMB2,319,412,000
(2022: RMB1,191,000,000) and the related banks have the right to sell, transfer
or otherwise dispose of any of those assets if the Group cannot repay the loans upon
request. Up to the date of this report, the banks have not exercised right to take

possession of the pledged assets.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of approximately
RMB1,020,042,000 were secured by the properties, including property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, properties under development for sale and
completed properties held for sale, and cash of the Group with a total carrying value
of approximately RMBS5,177,132,000. The senior notes were secured by the share

pledge of a majority of the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC.

Subsequent events
(@)  On 11 January 2024, the Company failed to redeem 10% of principal amount
of approximately US$494,667,000 of the new senior notes according to the

settlement schedule.

(b)  On 12 January 2024, the disposal of Hong Kong Golden Wheel Plaza was
completed. The detail of the transaction is disclosed in notes 2(b) and 40 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant events or material changes after the

reporting period up to the date of this report.

1 8 £l K b B A B A 5]l GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations

Revenue

The Group’s revenue consists of revenue derived from (i) sale of the Group’s
developed properties; (ii) rental income from property leasing; and (iii) hotel
operation. The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue and the

percentage of total revenue for the years indicated:

BETAZT—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

—ER= R e 4
2023 2022

ARBFI % AR T %

RMB000 % RMB'000 %

LE R Property development 2,134,213 89.4 2,410,505 90.6
Ei:N -y Property leasing 147,080 6.2 183,070 6.9
T 5 R Hotel operation 106,227 4.4 66,371 2.5
Mt Total 2,387,520 100.0 2,659,946 100.0

amBE_Z_"F+-H=1+—H
IHAEFE M 49 N R % 2,659.9 B 8 0 4 4
10222 8E X =F+-H=+—H
I FERHANRY 23875 HEIL > EHMH
Y 2L S R A A AR D o

Revenue decreased by approximately 10.2% from approximately
RMB2,659.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB2,387.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to

the decrease in revenue generated from property sales and property leasing.

2023 4E % ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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R R 2 2 W EH 4 Property Sales in terms of Property Type

48 Residential 94.2%
¥ % Commercial 5.7%

A 2 Office 0.1%

M Zhuzhou 39.6%

406 55 4 o S 2 T
Wuxi Golden Wheel
Starry Plaza
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Property development

Revenue derived from property development business decreased by 11.5%
from approximately RMB2,410.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB2,134.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. This decrease was primarily due to the decrease in the total GFA sold

compared with last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group achieved contracted sales
of approximately RMB940.7 million (2022: RMB1,641.4 million).

Property leasing

Revenue derived from property leasing decreased by approximately 19.7%
to approximately RMB147.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB183.1 million). The decrease in property leasing was mainly due
to the completion of the disposals of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Times Square
in July 2022 and Golden Wheel Plaza located in Hong Kong which decrease

rental income amounted to RMB11.1 million upon deconsolidation.

Hotel operation

Revenue derived from hotel operation increased by 60% to RMB106.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB66.4 million).
The increase was mainly due to China’s easing of most of its COVID-19
restriction in December 2022, leading to domestic travel rebound which fuels

the Group’s revenue from this segment.
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B B AR Cost of sales
R IA B 7 AR BE A AR T Y 8 A B A The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales for the years
indicated:
BET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December
SR C= R &
2023 2022
AR T % ANBH T %
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
LR Property development
il B A Land acquisition costs 642,610 27.7 802,495 28.7
A Construction costs 937,925 40.5 1,284,404 46.0
BAAL Rl E A Capitalised finance costs 146,156 6.3 459,605 16.5
BIIE BH 5 Tax expenses 18,182 0.8 17,127 0.6
% [ Impairment of assets 453,652 19.6 136,379 4.9
/It Subtotal 2,198,525 94.9 2,700,010 96.7
WERE Property leasing 25,373 1.1 22,241 0.8
G )5 7 Hotel operation 92,268 4.0 69,708 25
At Total 2,316,166 100.0 2,791,959 100.0

AEBMPEESARBE_F__F+-H
=t —HIEFEMARK 279208 & TEER

SR A=ZT-HIEEEMARY
23162 H BT o #% FELTI X i BB 1Y
B AR N L B A S N TR

AREE T R AR EEI A2 H
A FE D N3RS E F =

1) 30.1% o
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The Group’s cost of sales decreased from RMB2,792.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to RMB2,316.2 million for the year ended 31 December

2023. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in cost of sales from property

development, which was line with the decrease in revenue arising from the sales of

developed properties.

The Group’s percentage of average land acquisition costs over average selling price
decreased from 33.3% in 2022 to 30.1% in 2023.
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Gross profit
The Group recorded a gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 which was
mainly due to the Group incurring gross profit from its property leasing and hotel

operation.

The Group incurred a gross loss from its property development activities which
was mainly due to the reduction of sales prices in order to boost sales volume and

increase impairment loss of inventory.

The gross profit margin for property leasing was 82.7% for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: 87.9%). The slight decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to the completion of the disposal of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Times
Square in July 2022.

The Group’s hotel operation had recorded a gross profit margin of 13.1% for 2023
as compared to a negative profit margin of 5.0% in 2022 mainly due to the increase

in revenue from this segment by 60.0% as compared to last year.

Changes in fair value of investment properties

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a fair value loss on
investment properties of RMB133.2 million (2022: RMB44.1 million). The fair
value loss was mainly caused by the decrease of rental income generated by the

Group’s existing operating investment properties.

The Group’s investment properties were revaluated on market value basis by an

independent property valuer.

Other income, expenses, gains and losses

The Group had a net loss of RMB164.0 million for other income, expenses, gains
and losses for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: a net loss RMB217.2
million). The net losses in 2023 was mainly consisted of loss on deconsolidation
of subsidiaries of RMB24.3 million, change in financial guarantee contracts of
RMB51.4 million, and loss on changes in fair value of financial assets measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) of RMB66.8 million relating to the

equity investment in the shares of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd.
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Finance costs

Finance costs consisted primarily of interest expenses on borrowings and senior
notes. Finance costs increased from RMB298.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to RMB318.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
primarily due to the reduction of interest expense capitalized since less projects were

under progress as compare to the last year.

During the year, the average cost of borrowings at 8.87% (2022: 10.27%).

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses primarily consisted of advertising and promotional

expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB96.1 million (2022: RMB64.2 million), representing an increase
of approximately 49.8%. The increase was mainly due to the contract costs are
recognised as part of selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss during the year in which revenue from the related properties sales is

recognised.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily include staff salaries and benefits, depreciation
and amortisation, office expenses, traveling expenses, professional fees, utilities and

property tax, land use tax and stamp duty.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB160.6 million (2022: RMB164.1 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 2.1% as compared to last year. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group continued to maintain tight cost control policies
which included the control of headcount, across-the-broad reduction of salaries and

reduction of year-end bonus.

Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Due to the Group incurred a gross loss from its property sales as well as a revaluation
loss on investment properties which was mainly caused by the tough business

environment in the real estate industry and incurred a loss of net foreign exchange,

the Group had incurred a loss for the year of RMB935.0 million.
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Liquidity, financial and capital resources

Cash position

The Group had bank deposits and cash of approximately RMB586.3 million as of 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB857.4 million), including restricted bank deposits of
approximately RMB377.0 million (2022: RMB664.2 million). The decrease in cash
and bank balances was mainly due to the decrease in proceeds received from property
sales which was a result of the substantial decrease in contracted sales during the

year.

Bank and other borrowings and gearing ratio
The Group had outstanding bank and other borrowings (including senior notes) of
approximately RMB4,330.5 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB5,158.0

million).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net gearing ratio was approximately 387.3%
(2022: 233.2%). The net gearing ratio of the Group is calculated by dividing the

interest-bearing liabilities net of bank deposits and cash by the total equity.

The Group’s debt-to-asset ratio (total indebtedness minus contract liabilities
divided by total assets) was approximately 86.0% as at 31 December 2023 versus

approximately 69.0% as at 31 December 2022.

Cost of borrowings

The Group’s average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses paid and payable by the average total bank and other borrowings during
the relevant year) was approximately 8.87% in 2023 as compared to approximately
10.27% in 2022.
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Contingent liabilities

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchases of the Group’s properties. The Group’s
guarantees are released upon the banks receiving the individual property ownership
certificate of the respective properties from the customers as pledges for security to
the mortgage loan granted. If any such customer defaults on the mortgage payment
during the term of the respective guarantees, the banks may demand the Group to
repay the outstanding amount of the mortgage loan of such defaulting customer and

any accrued interest thereon.

The face value of the financial guarantees issued by the Group is analysed as below:

—E = R
2023 2022
AR T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB000
Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group to
banks in favour of its customers 8,760 54,984

HHD L MR R HHBERE AW
IRTERR I A FEAE AR -

EED I ) B0
WEWHGH S EERABE LG CHE
Py 3K ~ R WO B G A 5 T AR 4 3 B BT A%
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In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts at

initial recognition is not significant as the default rate is low.

Cash flows generated from/ (used in) operating activities

Cash generated from operating activities resulted primarily from pre-sales and sales
of developed properties, rental income and hotel income; while cash generated
from operating activities resulted from our costs of land purchases, costs for the
development of properties, costs of operating completed properties held for sale and

taxes paid.

For the Year, net cash generated from operating activities was approximately
RMB382.9 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) an increase in trade and
other payables of approximately RMB1,010.6 million; (ii) a decrease in properties
under development for sale of approximately RMB2,411.4 million, and (iii) a
decrease in restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB287.1 million, which
was offset by (a) an increase in completed properties for sale of approximately
RMB1,734.4 million; and (b) a decrease in contract liabilities of approximately
RMB 1,454.7 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash used in operating activities was
approximately RMB193.6 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease
in trade and other payables of approximately RMB307.4 million; and (ii) a decrease
in contract liabilities of approximately RMB213.6 million, which was offset by (a)
a decrease in properties under development for sale of approximately RMB712.3
million; (b) a dectease in completed properties for sale of approximately RMB56.2
million; and (c) a decrease in trade and other receivables of approximately RMB19.7

million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities

Cash generated from investing activities resulted primarily from disposal of
investment properties, property, plant and equipment, cash inflow upon acquisitions
of a subsidiary while cash used in investing activities was primarily driven by
additions of property, plant and equipment and investment in investment properties

and advance to associates and joint ventures.

For the Year, net cash used in investing activities was approximately RMB6.4
million, which was primarily attributable to (i) addition to investment properties
of approximately RMB59.2 million and (ii) cash outflow upon deconsolidation
of subsidiaries of approximately RMB6.4 million; which was offset by (a) gain
on disposal of investment properties of approximately RMB52.9 million; (b)
proceeds received from disposal of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMBG6.5million; and (c) interest received from bank deposit of approximately
RMB12.0 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash generated from investing activities
was approximately RMB587.0 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) the
net disposal of investment properties of approximately RMB326.0 million and (ii)

cash inflow upon acquisitions of a subsidiary of approximately RMB200.3 million.

Cash flow used in financing activities

For the Year, the Group’s had net cash used in financing activities of approximately
RMB373.5 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) a net of repayment of
bank borrowing raised of approximately RMB238.3 million; (ii) an interest payment
of approximately RMB74.2 million; and (iii) capital element of lease rental paid of

approximately RMB46.9 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s had net cash used in financing
activities of approximately RMB549.1 million, which was primarily attributable to
(i) a net repayment of bank borrowings raised of approximately RMB518.8 million;
(ii) an interest payment of approximately RMB150.7 million; and (iii) a net decrease
in senior notes of approximately RMB219.2 million; which was offset by placement

of deposits pledged for bank loans of approximately RMB352.1 million.
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Net current liabilities

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB3,160.1 million as of 31
December 2023, and net current liabilities of approximately RMB2,297.2 million as
of 31 December 2022.

Restricted bank deposits

A portion of the Group’s bank deposits has restricted usage. These deposits are either
(1) placed with certain banks in the PRC and the usage of which are restricted to
certain of the Group’s property development projects in the PRC, or (ii) pledged to
banks as security for certain banking facilities granted to the Group, in which case
the use of the restricted bank deposits, subject to the banks’ approval, is restricted to
the purposes as set out in the relevant loan agreements, or (iii) as security for certain
mortgage loans granted to our customers, in which case the restricted bank deposits
will be released upon receiving the building ownership certificates of the respective
properties by the banks from the customers as security for the mortgage loans
granted. As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s restricted bank deposits
were approximately RMB377.0 million and approximately RMBG664.2 million,

respectively.

Working capital

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately RMB209.3 million and approximately RMB193.2 million,
respectively. The Group receives cash inflows mainly from pre-sales of its properties
and project-specific bank loans. The Group is permitted to pre-sell its properties
under development when it obtains the relevant pre-sale permits. In addition to cash
inflows from pre-sales, the Group typically obtains project-specific bank loans once
it receives the work commencement permits for its projects ot project phases, using

the relevant land use rights and properties as security.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Indebtedness

Property developments require substantial capital investment for land acquisition
and construction and may take months or years before positive cash flow can be
generated. The Group principally funds its property developments from internal
funds, borrowings from banks and other parties and proceeds from sales and pre-
sales of its developed properties. As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had

the following outstanding bank and other borrowings:

wE A= N
As of 31 December

2023 2022
ARHFx ANR#TFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

TEHC AR SRAT K Unsecured bank borrowings
AR —4F Within one year 5,623 11,475

A PR ERAT 3K Secured bank borrowings

AR —4F (K 5k Within one year (note) 693,642 1,631,015
— 4L BB A After one year but within two years 136,900 225,000
AR DL EHOR 2 AR After two years but within five years 189,500 36,000
1,020,042 1,892,015
HE Total 1,025,665 1,903,490
B EE R E S (AT REATALE) Senior notes and bonds (Exclude interest payables) 3,304,806 3,254,550
Hst Total 4,330,471 5,158,040

B o« o e R AR R 2 SRAT KT RT A L 3CEI
HAabrZ IRR—F R HE - R =
A=Z+—H > BERTER AL EHELARY
5914 HETE (4 AR¥13797 H#IC) -
A SE [ MR % 5 ST 15 BOIS MR B 5 1 B0 80 P s
— AR R

AEMZBITET - BAEERREEFU AR -
3T RO TTRHE o A B A HEA SR AT 1 S S 5E
SEUR I R A IR R WU AR R
FMEE12- 1317218192328 X 29 °

Note: Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Within one year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate principal
amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to RMB591.4 million (2022: RMB1,379.7
million). The Group believes that such bank borrowings will be repaid after one year in

accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

The Group’s bank borrowings, senior notes and bonds are denominated in RMB,
US$ and HK$. Details of the assets pledged and guarantees for the secured bank
borrowings and senior notes are set out in notes 12, 13, 17, 18, 19, 23, 28 and 29 of

the consolidated financial statements.
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Capital commitments

The following table sets forth the Group’s contractual commitments as of the dates

indicated:
B#ET-A=+—H
As of 31 December
e - 2 —FE -
2023 2022
ARWF AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
NI E- SRR ER S Commitments contracted for but not provided
28T N B S R R B8 A P 2R in the audited consolidated financial statements
in respect of:
HRRR B P R W S S PR Construction of properties under development for sale
gL/ ES and investment properties under development 370,952 354,730
370,952 354,730

7 S T B < A0 7R AR B A S 1 EL TR A s T 1)
=T mE R -

HEAC B 5

BE-F-SER-F Ft A=A
(%3 FES VL ZLbES T VT L
JEE R B 0 36 ~ RS B AT
SRR 7 6 A S 00 D S

The Group’s contractual commitments represented its commitments to third party

construction companies with respect to the construction of its projects.

Capital expenditures

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s capital
expenditures were primarily related to the acquisition of land use rights, the
construction of properties, and purchase of property, plant and equipment. The

following table sets forth a breakdown of its capital expenditures for the years

indicated:
BRETZHZ—H
As of 31 December

R —E
2023 2022
ARWTF T NRE T
RMB000 RMB’000
R Construction of properties 276,860 552,266

WEEYE (AfFEEgCR T Purchase of property (including transfer
FefEh W) ~ BF R from completed properties held for sale),

plant and equipment 129 111
Hst Total 276,989 552,377
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, the Group has not entered into any
off-balance sheet guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the payment
obligations of any third parties. It does not have any interest in any unconsolidated
entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit support to it or

engages in leasing or hedging or research and development or other services with it.

Possible risks and uncertainties facing the Group

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now

but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

The Group is exposed to various types of market risks, including foreign exchange
rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk in the
normal course of its business. It manages and monitors these exposures on a regular
basis to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective

manner.
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Foreign exchange rate risk

The primary economic environment in which most of our principal subsidiaries
operate is the PRC and the functional currency is RMB. The Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risk is principally due to its US$ and HK$ denominated debts and
bank deposits in foreign currencies, mainly US$ and HKS$. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency are excluded. As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at

each reporting date are as follows:

e =t =m==
2023 2022
ARETFIT AN RETFT
RMB000 RMB000
g% Assets

E70 US$ 1,464 1,663
ESTH HK$ 13,753 21,645
15,217 23,308

E\ %\ Liabilities
E70 USs$ 3,639,030 3,770,897
T HK$ 592,296 1,023,819
4,231,326 4,794,716

N B 5t 58 70 R o Je THE — M & AR L F L
5 70 B ou HE A RS 22 AR il > HL R T R
TEERAT A7 A BB R o N R 5 3% TT K i
TEHZAE U E AR AR SR o

HE = ¢ B 2 36 S 4 A 360 A 5 L O SE S B
AR DL e 58 8 S B AR B o AR SR I 1 S A AE
] S S8 I BOORE » f E PEJE  O)  E O EJL Be
B Ae 00 By % 1 P RO WL -

Appreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ generally results in a gain arising
from the Group’s US$ and HK$ denominated debts and a loss arising from its bank
deposits in US$ and HK$. A depreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ would

have the opposite effect.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates have had and will continue to have an
impact on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy but the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the variable
rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances of the Group.
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its fixed rate
restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes and bonds. The Group
currently does not have a specific policy to manage its interest rate risk, but will

closely monitor the interest rate risk exposure in the future.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to it

due to the failure in discharging an obligation by the counterparties is arising from:

(a) the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the end of each reporting

period; and

(b) the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantee

provided by the Group.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade

receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of customers in the PRC.

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchases of properties. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank may demand the
Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-
sell the property to recover any amounts payable by him to the bank. In this regard,

the Group considers that its credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and restricted
bank deposits. As of 31 December 2023, approximately 74% (2022: 78%) of the
total bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited at 2 (2022: 3) banks,
representing deposits at each bank with a balance exceeding 10% of total bank
balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit risk of these liquid funds is limited
because these banks are State-owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high

credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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Liquidity risk

The Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
short-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities and continuously monitoring

forecasted and actual cash flows.

For further details, please refer to note 35b to the consolidated financial statements.

Please refer to notes 12, 13, 17, 18, 19, 23, 28 and 35 to the consolidated financial
statements for details of the pledges on the assets of, and guarantees provided by, the

Group.

Significant investments

Details of the Group’s significant investments during the Year are set out on pages

285 to 292 under the section headed “Schedule of Principal Properties”.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is glad to issue this Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “Report” or the “ESG Report”) to disclose the Group’s ESG information and
performance over the past year in an open and transparent manner. This report has
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “ESG Guidelines”),
covering the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, which is consistent
with the Group’s financial year. This report mainly describes the business, policies,
measures and performance of the Group’s operating units in mainland China. Given
that the Group’s business is based in Nanjing and there are relatively more projects
in Nanjing, which have a greater impact on stakeholders, the environmental key
performance indicators mainly cover the Nanjing headquarters, Golden Wheel
Binary Star Plaza, Nanjing Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott, Nanjing Golden
Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel and
Hong Kong office. Compared with last year’s report, the core projects covered in this
report remain largely unchanged. The Group will continue to collect and monitor
environmental and social data and expand the scope of disclosure with the aim of
enhancing the operational transparency of the Group. In preparing this report,
we provided an overview of the Group’s ESG performance based on the reporting

principles of “materiality”, “quantification”, “balance” and “consistency”.

Materiality: The Group determines the significant impact of ESG matters
on investors and other stakeholders and performs materiality
assessment through stakeholder engagement process and
materiality assessment process.

Quantification: This report discloses the KPIs in a quantitative manner and is
based on the standards, methods, assumptions and calculation tools
used for emissions and energy consumption provided by the Stock
Exchange.

Balance: This report presents an unbiased view of the Group’s ESG
achievements and challenges and avoids choices, omissions or
presentation formats that may unduly affect the decisions or

judgments of the readers of the report.

Consistency: Consistent disclosure statistics methods are used to the extent
possible and explanations are provided for any changes to the

methods used last year.
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Information disclosed in this report has been checked by managers of the relevant
departments and reviewed and approved by the Board of the Group. This report is
available in English and Chinese versions. This report and the ESG reports for the
previous years are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company

(https://www.gwtd.com.hk/).

INTRODUCTION

In 2023, we have experienced profound global challenges such as economic
instability, climate change and geopolitical turmoil. However, by adhering to
the management philosophy of “making life more enjoyable through people-
oriented, enterprising and pragmatic development”, the Group remains steadfast in
providing customers with high-quality products and services with rich professional
expertise, so as to improve their quality of life. The Group is fully aware of the
importance of sustainable development, which can enhance the Group’s energy
use efficiency and operating efficiency and is indispensable to the Group’s long-
term development. Therefore, we have added new emission reduction targets since
2022 and are committed to implementing and improving our environmental
protection policies and measures, which have visible results. In addition, the Group
makes good use of the influence of the brand “Golden Wheel” to focus on business
operations as well as pay attention to industry development and social welfare. We
actively encourage the public to do good deeds in the society, and this measure
brings quality service and positive influence to customers and project areas. The
Group’s management, conducts regular reviews and meetings from time to time to
attain better sustainable development and the Group’s future business direction.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to implement its core strategy of “focusing
on the development and operation of projects adjacent to subway stations or other
transportation hubs”. It will also invest more resources in ESG matters to better
manage internal risks and strengthen the Group structure, which is conducive to
maintaining its competitiveness for future development and expansion. The Group
is also committed to enhancing its ESG transparency by maintaining the scope of
environmental performance indicator data collection to six property projects since
last year, and continuously improving the Group’s self-monitoring capability and

the quality of this report.
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THE BOARD AND ESG WORKING GROUP

The Board of Directors (the “Board”), as the Company’s top management, will lead
the Group towards sustainable development. In particular, the Board formulates
ESG strategies and policies while closely monitoring their implementation. The
Board is also responsible for strengthening the Group’s ESG risk management to
enhance resilience and ensure long-term development. The Board adopts “top-
down” and “bottom-up” management approaches to communicate ESG targets and
concepts to employees at all levels, and at the same time improves ESG strategies
accordingly based on the practical experience of frontline employees in its daily
operation. In addition, the Board believes that stakeholder engagement is important
in identifying material ESG issues that highly influence its major stakeholders and
is relevant to the Group’s competitiveness in the industry. The Group is committed
to integrating material ESG issues into decision-making and business development
plans to effectively handle these matters.

Guided by the “Leadership Role and Accountability in ESG” issued by the Stock
Exchange, the Board understands that an effective governance structure in ESG
matters can help improve ESG performance and reporting standards. In particular,

the Board provides leadership in and assumes responsibility for:

- monitoring the identification of material ESG issues of the Group;

- encouraging the consideration of ESG aspects in daily business operation and

decision-making;

- understanding and responding to the potential impacts of ESG-related risks

and opportunities; and

- assuming the ultimate responsibility for supervising the Group’s ESG-related
issues including material ESG issues, and setting and tracking ESG-related

targets and metrics.

To promote sustainable development, the Group encourages communication
between the Board, management and general employees to coordinate its ESG
vision. Therefore, the Group has held discussions with employees from operation,
finance, compliance and other departments to make clear the roles of each party in
achieving ESG targets. To ensure consistent action targets across the business, the
Board actively follows up on the Group’s ESG progress and regularly reviews its ESG
principles. At the same time, the Board keeps abreast of internal and external ESG

news, and mainly obtains relevant ESG information through the following channels:

- disclosure of key performance indicators in the Group’s ESG report; and

- oral reports in meetings between the Board and the management team of the

Group.
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il b7y RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
AR TR IR - 35 Bchs B ST O R R During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the local laws and regulations
TR A BT E R ERERHE - and there was no material violation during the Year.

Ji il o TR M Z A AR 3 P 4 A

Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter for this report

B v ChEEANRIEMBERS R E %) A B

Environment Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic | A. Environment

of China

v (RN RFANB R SS JB R )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Air Pollution

v (R NRIEMB K TS BB iR i)
Water Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s
Republic of China

VARG YNk Y 27 REE S AviRieR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

v (RN RN B R S B R )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Noise Pollution

v G R B 6 A9 BE VR D
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy
Conservation

v e N R RN I BR BT )
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s
Republic of China

v CERIEE RS OR A HARE)

Regulations on the Administration of Environmental

Protection of Construction Projects

v CERIAH % TR RE SR B )
Measures for the Administration of Environmental
Protection Acceptance upon Completion of
Construction Projects

v (o R B s R B IR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Soil Pollution

v (R TR

Law on Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution
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Ji& i o BR M Z A AR 3
Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter for this report
1 1 v (R ANRIE 5B %) B1. i
Employment Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China B1. Employment
v ChEANRIEMBE S B R %)
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
v RN RN B R AR N PR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of
Minors
v R E T E)
Regulations on Prohibition of Child Labour
v R
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
v BB E B E GG
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong
fie o L7 4 VA GiE YNGR e ey 37 B2. fE B {5 L% %
Health and safety Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety B2. Employee health and safety
VAR GIE INCE ) E SR
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases
E fh FLAE v (hEANREMBIEGEEIL) BG. il AT MRS B R
Product liability Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China | B6. Product responsibility and service
/GRS R ) qualicy
Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China
v P N R R B i S o E AR B IR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Administration of Urban Real Estate
/R AR SRR
Urban Planning Law of the People’s Republic of China
v (R N RSN B )
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
AN v (hEANRIEMEBN %) B7. R &5
Anti-corruption Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China B7. Anti-corruption
v (P NRALAB ROR IE BTk
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China
v B I R )

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong
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AWARDS AND HONOURS IN 2023

The management and staff of the Group have achieved recognition from all sectors
of the community for their sustainable development efforts in 2023 and the key

achievements are as follows:

On 8 May 2023, the overseas Chinese community of Hunan province issued a press
release in recognition of the Group’s contribution to public welfare and charitable

causes, and awarded the title of “Most Compassionate Donation Collective”.
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In addition, Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Limited won the second prize of

“Outstanding Unit in Private Enterprise Survey” in 2023.
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STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has a deep understanding of stakeholders’ views and expectations
on ESG-related issues. The Group conducts open and ongoing dialogues with
stakeholders (including employees, shareholders and investors, tenants and landlords,
contractors, etc.) through staff meetings, annual general meetings, customer
services and other channels to understand the views of all parties. By collecting and
evaluating their opinions, the Group is able to faithfully formulate ESG governance
strategies and focus on areas that have a significant impact on stakeholders and the
Group's business operation, thereby creating sustainable value for stakeholders. The
content disclosed in this report reflects the main interests and concerns of these

stakeholders during the reporting period, and is prioritised accordingly.

& Il T A 8 % ] Ty 5K
Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
£HET > BATHGHE > HELHR
Group staff Staff’s interests Direct communication
> ZRMIERE > BTHRK - FM
Work environment safety Staff hotline and handbook
> IRER R S B R > BIEGIREE)
Occupational health and Staff training and activities
development
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i I e T X 1] T X
Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
B SR B4 > R B R > BRKRE
Shareholders and investors Return and growth General meeting of shareholders
> BN > EMPEEEE N
Profitability Regular disclosure of operating information
> AFEEEEM > AR R - EE R R
Company’s operating Corporate announcements/circulars, annual reports
information and financial statements
> A
Investor roadshows
HF BT > AR R > HFFMEENA
Tenants and property owners Product qualities and services Customer satisfaction survey
> fhAEE > ERER - MR EBE RS RERER
Product maintenance Keep close relationship through phone calls,
> A WeChat groups, e-mails, etc.
Safety facilities > A
> MeKF Routine inspections
Rental level > PRAREERY &R B
Provide professional after-sale services
R AL > A > BEARRADET RN R E B R E
Contractors Tendering methods Technique and quality assessment of tenderers
> R > BRI KA BERAF LA TE
Pay in time Set hiring standards and practices to ensure fairness
and justice
e > W > RMAM - AT AEMEEER
Suppliers Mode of procurement Open, impartial and fair tendering procedures
> S RBTAH > EMTIEE®
Observation and Performance of Convene regular work meetings
contracts > WMEEE

Factory inspections
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i I e T X 1] T X

Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback

B > MNPEREN > AT SO ST B R BUOR

Government authorities Compliance with laws and Follow and abide by national policies
regulations > GERFE R A LAERR T B B A A
e Hold regular meetings to review operating
Tax payment according to law procedures and relevant regulations
HA %2 > LG T RREUR
Project security Formulate green working, construction and

building policies

fan ) S > TR 2 BLA [

Communities Public welfare Get actively involved in community affairs
AL 8 g 2 > il R BUR D 3685 B BRI S AL [ Y 5 2
Connections with communities Set policies to minimize operation impact on the
A A environment and community
Community sanitation > AL EE)

Organise charity events

R SEER > IR A B R TR A

Media Group governance Regular disclosure of information and news release
#AM BE > R
Profitability Visit invitation
A g HAT > EE TN R R AR A R O SR A
Corporate social responsibility Information on investor and public relations are
(CSR) provided for media organizations upon request
BB
Operational transparency
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B R GRYE - 4 g RIS MK In accordance with the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Group
75 8 SRR [ 55 03 3 1 9 DA R R 5T o 0 kol T identified major issues and priorities involved in the Group’s operations through
45 4R 45 Wy BT 5 B I OR R AR R LRI communication with different stakeholders and internal discussions, and conducted

AEBBEBG A% R GRE e RER
W HE 1) ~ AR BOR KB R RG  fT3E
HE- e EAAERE AR T 17
ESG A Bk i o

BT T PR 3 A B A B AR S
Je TN > S TR A [R] HY s 20 0 o B4
BA T e %5 %S0 L
BRI B IR AT SRR E B A -

A B ek 2 A S B JBOR A
A T £y B2V M B R SR I B A

RIEC KL AV ESG R H & MM EE
ARl S A A ) TR A 2 #
BRI DR R 2O AT 505% -

AT BB A RE R B AR a materiality assessment. The materiality assessment process for the Year was as

follows:

1. The Group established a total of 17 ESG-related issues by taking into full
consideration the ESG Reporting Guide, corporate policies and management

strategies, industry benchmarking and stakeholders’ past comments, etc.

2. In order to understand the attention degree of stakeholders to relevant
issues and the importance of these issues, the Group communicates with
its staff, suppliers, customers, media, etc., through various communication
mechanisms to collect stakeholders’ opinions and conduct external materiality

assessment.

B Analyze business priorities and policies through management meetings
to assess the importance of relevant issues to the Group from the Group’s

perspective.

4. Based on two parameters, i.e. the importance of the ESG issues established to
each stakeholder and the importance of the issues to the Group, the issues are

prioritised and disclosed in matrix form.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES
MATERIALITY MATRIX

Based on our Group’s business development and long-term ESG policies, we have

the following materiality matrix:

B 1SS R
ENVIRONMENT Greenhouse gas emission
2 M (i

Use of resources and energy

‘Waste management

O <
Climate r.

k management
BT 5 {EMEPS
STAFF Employment equality
6 LR

Employment standards

o Occupational health and safety
8 AR K
Staff development and training
9 HLFRERARA
Staff compensation and benefits
AT 10 e g 3L
RESPONSIBILITY Management of supply chain

Customer information and privacy security

o o <k
12 7 i BB
Product and service quality

13 Hlwk e HEAEE

=

BN

Intellectual property protection

i BRSNS L e 3
Low Importance to the Group’s business

JE T A ) S R > AR A ORI A
)RR 2 MR RT3 TR R S IR B 2 2
BT8R ARA (O gi s 3 - 7 gh RIS LR -
BovE B R R B E% W B A A R
5B 4 R B ESG BUNE il € - B AR B0E BB R4
BRENEESE -

'Y
»
& 14 BAREH
High Complaint management
A 15 &S

SOCIAL Anti-Corruption

Community participation

17 HAth - A%
Other: Public interests

Based on the Group’s business characteristics, issues of greater importance during
the Year are employment equality, employment standards, occupational health
and safety, staff compensation and benefits, supply chain management, product
and service quality, complaint management and anti-corruption etc. This matrix
of important issues is an important reference for the Group’s future ESG strategy

formulation, target setting and information disclosure.
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to enhancing the sustainability of its environment
and business to meet the challenges posed by global warming while reducing
the environmental impact of the business. The Group has incorporated the
concept of sustainability into all business processes, including project design,
development and construction, property operation, etc., in order to create
low-carbon and natural symbiotic products and communities for customers.
Through different green policies and internal guidelines, the Group strives
to guide its staff to practice green building, green construction and green
office. During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous wastes.

ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVES

The Group has set specific environmental objectives and will strengthen
its efforts to reduce emissions in order to fulfill its commitment to
environmental protection. The Group adheres to the relevant national policy
guidelines on carbon emissions and integrates into the national development
plan, striving to achieve the goals of carbon peaking by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060. With the emissions in 2022 as the basis, the Group has

set environmental objectives for 2024 and 2025.

In terms of energy use, the target is to reduce electricity consumption by
5% and other energy consumption by 5% by 2024, and to achieve an 8%
reduction in electricity consumption and 8% reduction in other energy

consumption by 2025.

In terms of solid waste discharge, the Group is committed to reducing office
waste by 5% and construction waste by 10% by 2024, and further reducing
office waste by 10% and construction waste by 15% by 2025.
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In terms of water use, the target is to reduce water consumption by 5% or

reduce water consumption density by 2024 and reduce water consumption by

8% or reduce water consumption density by 2025.

Solid waste discharge

Office waste: reduce by 5%
AN TREY) - 10%

Construction waste: reduce by 10%

RERR ZRINFEHR B St =
Environmental Category Target in 2024 Target in 2025
AERGE BN WD sw iR BN WD sn iR
Energy use Electricity: reduce consumption by 5% Electricity: reduce consumption by 8%
HABREV - 8D 5% FE & HABREVE - W) 8% FE &
Other energy: reduce consumption by 5% | Other energy: reduce consumption by 8%
[ B o 4 B WNEREY - B 5% WA ZBEYD - WY 10%

Office waste: reduce by 10%
M LREY) - 15%

Construction waste: reduce by 15%

Indoor air quality

Improve the achievement rate of indoor

air quality to 95%

KE R B 5% Rk B SRR R K % L D 8% Rk B BUR IR FE K L

Water use Reduce water consumption by 5% or | Reduce water consumption by 8% or
reduce water consumption density reduce water consumption density

EFRZERER RITZRNZEREAREREE 5% RITENEREREREE 8%

Improve the achievement rate of indoor

air quality to 98%
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Al.

Emissions

Developing green policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions
The Group attaches importance to the emissions generated from its
business and their management methods. The Group strictly complies
with national laws and regulations and regularly reviews the business
implementation process of each department. Emissions of greenhouse
gases and other air pollutants are inevitable in the business process of
property development. However, the Group has made its best efforts
to set up a number of green policies to ensure good management from
the source, reduce emissions, provide greening for projects and ensure

that the green coverage rate reaches specific standards.

During the Year, the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions were mainly
from outsourced electricity and gasoline, and therefore, the Group has
been closely monitoring the emission sources to reduce the production
of greenhouse gases within its controllable range. For example, the
Group has a green policy for the use of resources to ensure its staff use

resources correctly to reduce unnecessary waste.

Electricity usage

> Group offices: The administrative department will be
responsible for checking whether the lights, computers, air
conditioners and other machines are turned off after office
hours; after the meeting room is used, the projector, computers

and other equipment shall be shut down in time.

> Commercial projects: Air conditioners are used only in
summer and winter of each year for a period of approximately
five months for projects in Mainland China, with an indoor
temperature of not less than 26 degrees Celsius in summer
and not more than 20 degrees Celsius in winter to reduce

greenhouse gas emissions from refrigerants.
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Gas usage
> Hotel business: Replace some of the natural gas to be used with

other renewable energy.

Vehicle use
> Strictly and uniformly arrange according to demand for vehicles

to reduce the use of vehicles.

> For each project under construction, staff will be provided
with metro cards that are purchased collectively, and project
staff will be encouraged to use public transport when handling

project-related matters.

Water resources management

The Group purchases water from municipal water supply agencies,
without any obstacles in obtaining suitable water sources. In terms
of sewage discharge, we set strict discharge guidelines to minimise
environmental damage. The Group understands that water resources
are precious natural resources, so we strive to improve water
efficiency and recycle water resources as much as possible and will
prefer equipment with water-saving features. In the office, there is a
dedicated area in the workplace to collect reusable stored water. The
Group will remind employees to pay attention to water usage and
develop good habits of saving water through labels or posters. At the
same time, according to the Group’s green policy, water-saving faucets
and toilets have always been used in office areas, the surplus water left
in the office pantry every day will be recycled for cleaning water, and

the available water resources will be cherished.
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For other property projects, the Group uses water resources in
accordance with engineering requirements and local environmental
requirements. Although sewage will inevitably be generated during
the development of property projects, the Group’s project sites will
be provided with appropriate facilities for sand settling of surface
runoff, such as sand settling ponds, silt collectors and sedimentation
tanks, which will be maintained regularly. In addition, rainwater and
sewage will be separated to ensure that sewage will be discharged
into municipal sewage pipes and rainwater will be discharged into
municipal rainwater pipes. Drainage networks will be provided to
ensure smooth channels to prevent water accumulation. Manholes in
the site will all be covered with care and temporarily sealed to prevent

debris from entering the drainage system.

Solid waste management

In addition to the emission of greenhouse gases, other gas emissions
and sewage, the Group strictly complies with the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Promotion of Cleaner Production and the Waste
Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong to strictly control solid waste.
In 2023, the hazardous waste generated by the Group was minimal.
For the disposal of non-hazardous waste, the Group will strictly
implement waste classification in accordance with the requirements
of the Nanjing Municipal Domestic Waste Management Regulations,
which came into force on 1 November 2020. In the workplace, the
Company will arrange dedicated personnel and place more collection
bins in the office waste collection area to collect paper waste, and
regularly contact professional recyclers for disposal. Meanwhile, the
Company requites the use of environmentally friendly paper, reducing
the use of disposable paper and prioritising the use of electronic files
for work. In terms of hotel and shopping mall operations, the Group
engages professional recyclers to collect and dispose of non-hazardous

waste and carry out recycling work.
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Waste separation facilities within the project

Green construction

The Group has stipulated in construction contractor agreements that
construction contractors will carry out the works in accordance with
the green construction guidelines, which include adopting a “three
level waste management hierarchy” in the construction process,
following the “avoid, recycle, and dispose” process, so as to avoid
waste generation in the first place before conduction waste disposal.
All chemical containers should be clearly labeled in accordance
with the waste disposal (chemical waste) (general) instructions, and
chemical waste should be stored on a watertight floor to prevent
leakage. A refuse collection point or a movable garbage bucket will
be set up at the site for properly placing all solid wastes. Hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes are collected separately and disposed
according to law. Each project has designated staff responsible for
waste management related matters, and the project manager is mainly
responsible for approving the waste management plan; the project
intermediary is responsible for the implementation of daily waste
management; the general foreman is responsible for supervising the
workers’ compliance with the waste management guidelines; and the
project manager is responsible for coordinating the actual arrangement

and recording.

Green project

The Group is fully aware of the importance of the concept of low
carbon and environmental protection to the sustainable development
of our business. In addition to formulating policies to improve the
efficiency of the use of energy and resources, we will also adopt more
different elements, including technology, design and other aspects to
reduce the environmental and ecological impact of the project before

and after construction.
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The Group’s real estate project planning direction has always been to
focus on the development and operation of projects adjacent to subway
stations or other transportation hubs, and the most recent projects are
located on the subway roof or near high-speed railway stations. This
development direction not only considers profitability, but also shows
the experience of the Group in pursuing sustainable development.
Under the development policy of the complex adjacent to the subway
station or other transportation hubs, all aspects of living needs of
customers, including shopping, education, medical care, etc., within
the residential area and nearby areas, can be met without traveling
far away. This not only improves the convenience of customers’ lives,
but also reduces greenhouse gas emissions generated by customers’
transportation in daily life. For other needs, customers can use more
environmentally friendly and nearby public transportation to achieve a

sustainable lifestyle.

Under such general policy for project development, the Group has
also added the green concept to the site selection and design stage
as early as before the construction, not only strictly complying with
the functional planning requirements of the project site, but also
conducting site visits during the site selection of the project to
understand the local ecology and supporting facilities. Before the
project is officially implemented, the Group will conduct project
environmental impact assessment in accordance with the regulations,
mainly conducting research and assessment on the water, soil, sound,
etc., that will be affected. Based on the results of the inspection and
evaluation, the Group will hold meetings and discussions and take

relevant measures based on the characteristics of each project.
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During the project implementation phase, the Group designs the
project based on the topography of the project site and the overall
climate environment. The design team will carefully consider the
project orientation, natural ventilation, sunshine time, etc., to set up
the design scheme. In addition, the Group will set up energy-saving
teams based on its need, set up water and electricity consumption
quotas in advance, formulate rewards and punishment rules and
monitor the implementation of energy-saving work plans and targets
to improve energy efficiency. Procurement of materials in the project
design is also an important part of the Group’s focus. We carefully
select suppliers and use only high-quality materials and try our best to
use environmental-friendly materials, such as external wall insulation

materials and high-efficiency energy-saving lamps, etc.

In addition, the Group actively uses energy-saving and water-saving
measures and technologies at different stages. In terms of water saving,
some residential projects are equipped with rainwater collection ponds
to use non-traditional water sources such as rainwater for greening
irrigation and road washing, and water saving systems, for example,
drip irrigation or sprinkler irrigation are also used. Commercial
projects are also equipped with water-saving equipment, such as
installation of pressure-reducing valves and induction taps. In terms
of energy conservation, basically all projects adopt door and window
products with sealing strips to enhance the air tightness of doors and
windows, thus effectively preventing heat conduction caused by air
convection, reducing the frequency of heating used by customers and

reducing the overall greenhouse gas emissions of the project.

Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza is a popular choice
for shopping and accommodation in Nanjing. We have adopted
several measures to achieve energy-saving and environment-friendly
operation without affecting the service level. The plaza management
will compare and review the data every other month with those
of the same period in the past. The plaza implements sustainable
development measures and plans to utilise renewable energy sources
such as solar thermal and solar photovoltaic. In view of the waste
easily generated from the plaza business, the Group strives to adopt
the environmental protection and low-carbon option to the maximum
extent while keeping the environment clean and tidy, and adopting
sterilisation technology in public facilities to meet requirements in
the epidemic situation. Moreover, the Group has very strict standards
in construction materials and design, and we hope to save resources

and reduce pollution to the maximum extent, so as to provide people
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FE R 0 50 {8 R 22 [ o T B 3 ek b with applicable and efficient use space. The green space rate of the
PP. P g P
ROERZ—FET15.03% 0 I Hi# plaza reached 15.03% in 2021. Trees are provided for shading and
B & A 1 K B AR 5t supporting facilities for rest, and waterscape modeling is set in the
pp g P! g
Bl Ok B FRER o SRR 4E landscape center. The Group comprehensively considers shading and
P! p P y g
BERERE - KR, —F = — drainage requirements in its greening design, with its green building
FRERERTENL—E - certification recognised as one star grade in 2021.
Jo% SRHE L R e e e S ==
Types of exhaust emissions 2023 2022 2021
WA (F5)
Sulphur oxides (kg) 0.17 0.51 0.51
AR (T5)
Nitrogen oxides (kg) 4932 52.22 143.17
ALY (T30)
Particulate matter (kg) 0.48 0.56 11.41
% SRR P —R= e S B S
Greenhouse gas emission 2023 2022 2021
(—) B3 % 8 PO R (2 )
(I) Direct greenhouse gas emissions and reduction (tonne) 570.70 613.60 365.14

() e TR TH] 2 T 5 SR P (i)
(IT) Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 7,580.70 8,552.07 8,063.01

(=) JH At T 2 T 5 S i (2 i)
(I1I) Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 99.58 93.74 93.96

i % SR PR & ()
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 8,250.98 9,259.41 8,522.11

R (AN, BAET)

Greenhouse gas emissions intensity (in tonne/per employee) 14.20 66.45 12.72

54 4 R e B A B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



BUE - A KR I
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

JE SRR

R = —F - G e

Waste category 2023 2022 2021
A EBEEY (AH) D& R M
Hazardous waste (tonne) Trace Trace Trace
HEBREYEE (AW, B£AT) WME ME W
Hazardous waste density (in tonne/per employee) Trace Trace Trace
I B ()

Non-hazardous waste (tonne) 31 51 60
WEBEREY B (AW, BLET)

Non-hazardous waste density (in tonne/per employee) 0.05 0.09 0.09

S <l i

—Bo= —g-= L S

Use of water resources 2023 2022 2021
FEKE (AM)

Total water consumption (tonne) 150,465 158,562 145,033
FEKEBE (AW B4 ET)

Water consumption density (in tonne/per employee) 258.98 281.64 216.47

i

H
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Notes:

There are seven real estate projects in the scope of performance indicator
data collection in 2021 and 2022, including the headquarters office in
Nanjing, the Hong Kong office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International
Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel, Nanjing Golden
Wheel Binary Star Plaza, Hong Kong Golden Wheel Plaza and Nanjing
Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott. There are six real estate projects in the
scope of performance indicator data collection in 2023, excluding Hong
Kong Golden Wheel Plaza compared to those in 2021 and 2022.

During the Year, the Group has applied the amended “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” as issued by the Stock Exchange in March 2022. Data conversion
method and factors are mainly referred to in the amended “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”, the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the People’s Republic of China, the Energy Statistics
Manual published by the International Energy Agency, the Energy
Information Administration and the Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas

Inventories of the Environmental Protection Agency.
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A2.

B8 The reduction in sulphur oxide emissions during the Year was mainly due
to a decrease in fuel consumption as the Company’s employees mostly
travelled by high-speed rail to visit joint venture projects in other regions

after the easing of pandemic restrictions.

4. More frequent air travel by our leaders during the Year, especially after
the easing of pandemic restrictions, led to an increase in other indirect

greenhouse gas emissions.

5. The Group does not use packaging materials nor involve in product
recycling as it mainly engages in real estate development, business

management, financial investment and hotel.

Use of Resources

Green office

The Group's green office not only controls greenhouse gas emissions,
but also includes the use of other resources, office procurement and
disposal of office waste. At present, the Group has offices in Nanjing
and Hong Kong, and the main wastes in the offices are general
domestic waste and used paper. We have actively advocated such issue
to our staff to encourage them to reduce the use of disposable and
over-packaged goods. As for printing documents, we require our staff
to use environmentally friendly paper under normal circumstances,
and the printing paper can be reused for internal use. All waste such as
packaging materials and office paper will be recycled by the Group’s
designated recycler. All staff within the Group have complied with the

internal Green Office Management Guidelines, including:

> Equipping staff with low-energy computers;

> Requiring staff to turn off lighting fixtures, air conditioners

and equipment before leaving the premise;

> Full use of energy-efficient lighting system and LED lamps in

the office;
> Reasonable use and ordering of office supplies;
> Employees are encouraged to use double-sided printing

and reuse the single-sided printing paper to reduce paper

consumption;
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> Recycling facilities are provided in the premises to recycle glass,

carton, paper, metal and other materials;

> Engaging professional recyclers to deal with wastes that may
harm the environment, such as lamp tubes, ink cartridges and

batteries;

> staff are encouraged to use video conferencing and

teleconferencing as an alternative to business trips;
> Promote papetless office; and

> Replacing printed publicity leaflets with internet-based

advertising for project marketing.

Water conservation

As the Group’s business involves the operation of shopping malls
and hotels, there will be a certain amount of water facilities and
consumption. The Group will prefer equipment with water-saving
features and monitor the use of water resources through the property
management system. In the office, there is a dedicated area to collect
reusable stored water. As water consumption of the hotel business
is the highest in the Group, we have implemented a series of water
saving measures for the hotel business, including regular inspection
and maintenance of water pipes by the engineering department to
prevent leakage and installation of water-saving faucet and toilet to

control water output.

In other property projects, both indoor and outdoor, the Group
has taken special measures to save the use of water resources. For
indoor areas, the Group’s engineering department is responsible for
controlling water use of landscape modeling and public areas mainly
using recycled water. The engineering department also needs to
conduct regular inspections to understand the actual situation and
explore areas for which water-saving measures can be taken. In terms of
outdoor design, the Group has applied the rainwater recycling system
and the design of “Sponge City” in different projects. “Sponge City”
is a design of a city model with both flood control and ecological and
environmental protection functions, including the design of rainwater

gardens, concave green spaces, permeable pavement, rainwater
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collection ponds, etc., which can improve the efficiency of water

circulation. For example, Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza, a

complex of the Group integrating retail, service apartments and hotels,

has been equipped with rainwater collection pond facilities as early as

at the design stage to collect rainwater for outdoor plant irrigation,

driveway cleaning, etc., to make good use of water resources.

Usage amount of energy by emission source

REVRAE & (-8 T R i) ZRIER R R

Energy Consumption (000 kWh) 2023 2022 2021

3278 T H (YR S S)

Transportation (Petrol and diesel) 113.50 188.54 260.44

SR

Purchased electricity 13,283.28 14,747.04 13,719.69

SRR

Purchased natural gas 2,976.95 3,100.16 1,636.90
REVR A FEAE =

Total energy consumption 16,373.73 18,035.75 15,617.03

REVRIH R B (TR TR 4 B L)

Energy consumption density (in 000 kWh/employee) 28.18 32.04 2331

it
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Notes:

There are seven real estate projects in the scope of performance indicator
data collection in 2021 and 2022, including the headquarters office in
Nanjing, the Hong Kong office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International
Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel, Nanjing Golden
Wheel Binary Star Plaza, Hong Kong Golden Wheel Plaza and Nanjing
Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott. There are six real estate projects in the
scope of performance indicator data collection in 2023, excluding Hong
Kong Golden Wheel Plaza compared to those in 2021 and 2022.
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2. During the Year, the Group has applied the amended “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” as issued by the Stock Exchange in March 2022. Data conversion
method and factors are mainly referred to in the amended “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”, the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the People’s Republic of China, the Energy Statistics
Manual published by the International Energy Agency, the Energy
Information Administration and the Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas

Inventories of the Environmental Protection Agency.

3. The reduction in energy use during the Year was mainly due to the fact
that the Company’s employees travelled by high-speed rail to visit joint
venture projects in other regions after the lifting of pandemic restrictions,

resulting in a reduction in gasoline consumption and emissions.

Environment and Natural Resources

The impact of the Group’s business operations on the environment
and natural resources mainly relates to the consumption of electricity,
water resources, building materials and office supplies during the office
and construction process. We have also taken a series of environmental
protection measures to reduce emissions and consumption, and
implemented green buildings to reduce the impact of business

operations on the environment and natural resources.

On the one hand, the Company’s impact on environmental resources
is reflected in its business activities at construction site, where dust
generated will deepen the level of air pollution. Therefore, the Group
mainly manages the construction dust issue during the construction
process in accordance with the relevant requirements such as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
establishes a complete set of spraying systems at all construction sites,
and reduces the air dust by driving mist cannon trucks and regularly
turning on the atomising water spraying system at the construction
sites. In order to effectively reduce the dust emission from the
construction site, the construction site must meet the requirements for
the following: surrounding enclosure, hardening of construction roads,
covering of bare soil and material stacking, wet operation of earthwork
excavation and demolition works, cleaning of vehicles entering and
leaving the site and airtight transportation of slag cars, with the aim

to effectively reduce the dust emission from the construction site.
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AA4.

In addition, the Group is very concerned about the impact on the
residents near the project. During the construction process, the Group
will always pay attention to whether the noise generated by the project
is controlled within the relevant standards and strictly observe the
legal construction time in the project area. As the light emitted from
the display screen on the external wall of the shopping mall may affect
nearby residents, we will turn off the lighting system of the screen at

10 p.m. every day to reduce light pollution.

On the other hand, the impact is reflected in consumption of energy
such as water, electricity and gas, which leads to carbon dioxide
emissions. In this regard, the Company has established a series of
internal energy saving policies that employees are required to comply
with. For instance, it is required to use environmentally friendly paper
and, to reduce energy consumption, the air conditioning temperature

must not be lower than a particular level.

Climate Change

The Group is aware of the risks arising from climate change. The
management has identified and understood the possible opportunities
and risks to our business and actively responds to, manages and
monitors the risks associated with climate change. Extreme weather
brought about by climate change will directly bring physical risks
to our property development, investment, hotel operation and other
aspects. For example, extreme weather events such as rainstorm and
typhoon may affect the delivery period of the supplied materials,
causing project delay and directly affecting the normal operation
of the Group. Therefore, the Group should adopt relevant policies,
including supply chain management and green design, to strengthen
the adaptability of the Group’s business and projects and reduce the
short and medium term risks associated with climate change. As for
the long-term risk that climate change may bring, which is the risk of
social transformation, the Group has also adopted measures to adapt to

and resist climate change at the regulatory level.
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SOCIAL

Upholding the people-oriented concept, the Group is committed to creating

a harmonious and healthy working environment for its staff. We highly

respect the rights and interests of our staff, and also attach importance to

their personal growth, the Group’s supply chain management and quality

assurance. During the Year, we continued to improve our relevant policies to

provide high-quality products to our customers and our country based on the

interests of the Group and our staff.

BI1.

Employment

The Group has always valued its staff as the Group’s greatest asset. As
a result, the Group strictly complies with the Employment Promotion
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Marriage Law of the People’s Republic of China and other
relevant laws and regulations, and has formulated staff handbooks and
set down regulations on remuneration and dismissal. For example, all
employees are required to sign an employment contract, which sets
out matters such as wages, benefits and termination of the contract.
The Group respects and embraces different cultures. When we
recruit new staff, all applicants, regardless of their identity, gender,
religion, disability, nationality, etc., can have the same recruitment
opportunities. During the recruitment process the human resources
department will require applicants to show their identification
documents. If an applicant cannot show any compliance documents,
the Group will not consider allowing the applicant to proceed to the
next recruitment step to avoid the employment of child labour and

forced labour.

The Group has relevant anti-discrimination and anti-harassment
policies in both recruitment and business processes, including the
Anti-sex Discrimination Policy, which defines discrimination and
harassment so that stakeholders can clearly understand the relevant
definitions. In case of any relevant situation, staff can immediately
report through communication channels. The Group also attaches
importance to the training of talents and abilities. We conduct
annual performance appraisal with our staff every year and have a clear
promotion ladder. All staff have the same promotion opportunities
according to the results of the performance appraisal and the

corresponding qualifications and abilities.
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Salary and Remuneration

Employment Policy Specific Provisions
BR(EER BT — A TARR S A P /N > A PRS2 > 4% R & 5 4 DL S A i 3
Working Hours 2 SRR AR o
The working hours of employees are generally 40 hours per week. Where overtime work is
required, the Group will offer overtime pay or grant or approve leave in lieu as appropriate.
Hra ALERE TG TERR - B - TAEEMRE L TERRFRR MR RHR

BEFIHH > S KRR B ST o BRILZ AL o EEE AR B TRUEEERMAL
TERBURHAEAL -

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its employees based on factors such
as market wages, responsibilities, job complexity and work performance. Staff remuneration
is always paid in full as scheduled. The Group also pays discretionary bonuses to qualified

employees based on operation results and individual performance.

{4

Vacation

B TR R 3 N RIEAN B 55 B 15 ) BUE v = A MR W MR B LA B » A
s H A B B o SR P B TR R IR R S A ) — F A A R -

Employees are entitled to maternity leave, marriage leave and other leave, and may apply for
other casual leave in accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China.
The Group’s female staff can apply for physiological leave of one day each month according

to their physical conditions.

B TAaF

Employee Benefits

SE 2 B TR A B ZHE RO AL & (R EE B A ~ SR AL ARG - I S i -
BTEE - iREFEF o B T2 FAR BB E W EH et
% BB I R AR B B 9 2 o v B DR B AR B SR I AR o
P T A — TR SRS T 3 DA SR 2 T I 0 B % A P R T B R A R R
The Group pays contributions to the social insurance fund for its employees, and offers
working meal allowance, regular physical examination, employee activities, travel allowance
and other benefits stipulated by the state. If employees take training and relevant vocational
qualification examinations, the Group will provide additional leave for examination and
bear relevant training expenses. Hong Kong-based employees are also entitled to medical
insurance and the mandatory provident fund. The Group has also introduced a share option
scheme to reward employees who make outstanding contributions to the growth and

development of the Group.
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Categories

MET A
Total Number of
Employees

MEETAY
Number of Lost

Employees

ik B LA 80N B TSI R %)

The Percentage of Lost Employees

in the Category

1% 0 15 ) 73
By Region

it
Hong Kong

71.4%

o B K
Mainland China

574

189

32.9%

AR 2
By Age Group

18-30 3%
18-30

149

96

64.4%

31-50 5%
31-50

360

79

21.9%

ST A b
51 and Above

72

19

26.4%

52 (R 0
By Employment Category

e

General

412

167

40.5%

H g
Middle

139

24

17.3%

FiE

Senior

30

10.0%

AR 2y
By Gender

Ttk
Male

274

94

34.3%

g ks

Female

307

100

32.6%

Fb
Total

581

194

33.4%
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B2.

Occupational Health and Safety

To ensure a safe and healthy working environment that makes staff feel
at ease and work more efficiently, we strictly implement relevant laws
and regulations including but not limited to the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Safety Production Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Industrial Injury Insurance Ordinance and the
Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China, etc. The
Company requires new joiners to undergo health check. The Group is
committed to protect the health of its employees. For any employee
who suffers from health issue that requires hospitalisation, our human
resources department will make immediate intervention and gain an
understanding of his/her condition, while relevant colleagues will
be arranged to pay him/her a visit. The well-being of our staff is on
the Company’s top priority, therefore it also makes contribution for
each employee to work-related injuries insurance, while the general
contractors of our projects are required to maintain relevant insurance
for the construction workers. The Company also gives 1 day of

menstrual leave per month to its female employees.

The Group also attaches importance to occupational safety at the
construction site of the project, and implements the principle of
“safety first and prevention first” during the entire construction
process. Project engineers hold monthly meetings with the Project
Safety Committee to monitor the implementation of the project safety
plan and revise the health and safety performance of the project. The
Group listens to the opinions of the staff carefully and improve safety
facilities, safety awareness and the safety management principles
of working environment. The management of the Group will also
regularly visit the site to oversee the purchase, lease, use of safety
protection equipment, machinery equipment, construction machinery
and accessories, fire service facilities and equipment that meet the
requirements of safety construction (including the safety protection
for inflammable and explosive and dangerous goods) and conducts
routine inspection and record on temporary electricity consumption
and high falling objects. The construction of a project shall strictly
implement a tendering and bidding system and shall be contracted
out to a construction entity with the relevant qualification grading.
The Group has a complete defense system in place against the safety
risk brought about by unexpected natural events. In the summer of
2023, the Nanjing Golden Wheel Commercial Headquarter arranged
and deployed the flood prevention work for Nanjing Golden Wheel
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International Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel New Metro and
Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza in advance, which practical
and effective implementation prevents the Company from suffering

significant economic losses.

The human resources department conducts statistics and data
collection on a unified basis every year, while the Administration
and human resources department conducts regular monthly meetings
to report and follow up relevant work. During the Year, there were
no material cases of work-related injuries and fatalities due to work-
related accidents, and working day lost due to work-related injuries

was zero.

The Group assists staff to establish harmonious and healthy
interpersonal relationships and advocates mutual support and care. We
believe that such a working environment is able to not only cultivate
team spirit, but also help increasing the overall operating efficiency of
the Group. For this purpose, the Group regularly holds staff activities,
including birthday parties, festival celebrations and group construction
activities days, to narrow the gap among staff and create a harmonious

working atmosphere so that staff can work happily.

Each year, the Company holds a Spring Festival Evening Party
and annual Summary Meeting. During the meeting, the Company
reviewed the Group’s history and the overall situation in the past. At
the same time, the Company released the Group’s future development
directions, strategic objectives and working plans and tasks for the
new year in respect of its four major segments. In addition, in order
to appreciate the staff for their contribution to the Group, we have
commended and presented awards to excellent managers, excellent staff
and long-serving staff. Besides, various departments of the Company
organise regular out-of-office activities from time to time. There is a
photo wall in the corridors of the Company’s office, which records the
flashing moments of employees in various activities. A diversified and
inclusive corporate culture offers each employee more opportunities to
enable them to truly achieve their goals and truly become “an integral

part of the company”.
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B3.

Development and Training

The Group is committed to providing the best quality products and
services to our customers. Professional staff and up-to-date industry
knowledge are behind maintaining excellent quality. As a result,
the Group regularly organises trainings for its staff according to the
development requirements for different positions, including trainings

for pre-job, fire drill, construction engineering and service activities.

After joining the Company, all new staff are required to attend prejob
induction training provided by the human resources department
to learn about the history of the Group, organisational structure,
company rules and regulations, basic operation of office automation
system, various policies, etc., to make sure that they are familiar with
the values and objectives of the Group and understand their roles in
the Group. The Company will, on pragmatic basis, encourage staff to
take the national professional and technical qualification examinations
and file the relevant proof of staff who have successfully obtained
the qualification certificates to the human resources department.
The Group values the professional and technical skills of its staff and
assessments are made in the principles of their talent, competence
and performance. Based on the staff assessment results, the Group
takes a series of measures, such as increasing their salaries or granting
them promotion, to recognise their abilities. The Group places great
importance to the career development of its staff and focuses on
training and nurturing candidates to enter the talent pool system and
talent pipeline, enabling them to develop into senior managers or

senior professionals of the Company.
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iyl Number of Percentage of Training hours Training hours
Categories trained staff trained staff (hour) | per employee (hour)
Fie o [ ) 73
By Region
i 0 0 0 0
Hong Kong
e PN 3 21 100% 42 0.07
Mainland China
HAE B )73
By Age Group
18-30 3% 5 23.8% 10 0.07
18-30
31-50 3% 15 71.4% 30 0.08
31-50
S LA E 1 4.8% 2 0.03
51 and above
2 A AR 8 ) 7
By Employment Category
g 6 28.57% 12 0.03
General
R 12 57.14% 24 0.17
Middle
g 3 14.29% 6 0.20
Senior
AL 81
By Gender
FHE 2 9.52% 4 0.01
Male
Lotk 19 90.48% 38 0.12
Female
EY 21 100% 42 0.07
Total
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B4.

In addition, anti-corruption training is a key training program of
the Group, and its training contents have been clearly stipulated in
the staff manual. Engineering contracts, lease contracts and separate
anti-corruption clauses signed by the Company and third parties are
included in the manual to prevent any corruption. The Group also
strongly encourages its staff to participate in external training or
seminars, and provides examination leave and bears relevant training

expenses to support staff’s career development.

Employment Standards

During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors and other regulations on the
prohibition of child labour and forced labour. The Group did not
violate labour standards in 2023. All employees of the Group are
recruited by the human resources department following established
standards and procedures, so as to ensure that all candidates are able
to meet the qualifications for employment. Based on the relevant
information submitted by the candidates, the human resources
department makes rigorous check and verification on the identity and
professional qualifications of candidates, so as to ensure that the legal
minimum working age is met. In addition, the Group does not use
child labour. During recruitment, the Company requires applicants to
present identification documents to ensure that the applicants meet
the age requirement of the Labor Law. The Group has cracked down
on forced labour. All employees must sign employment contracts upon
commencement of employment, which contain detailed information
on work requirements and wages, so that employees fully understand
their responsibilities and the Group’s expectations. The Company does
not promote overtime culture. If overtime work is required, we will
consider whether employees are given proper rest time. After overtime
work, we will arrange time off or provide overtime pay. Employees
are provided with economic compensation in accordance with thew
requirements of the Labor Law to ensure their rights are under legal
and reasonable protection. In addition, we will conduct analysis
quarterly to strengthen human resource planning and streamline
working processes to avoid unnecessary overtime work. During the
Year, the Group did not commit any violation of the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China or other laws and regulations related
to the prevention of child labour or forced labour in mainland China.

However, if any violation is found, the human resources department
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will immediately report it to the management according to the
established procedures, and then the management will hold an internal
meeting and appoint a person in charge to follow up the violations and

give relevant severe punishments.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has always attached importance to maintaining excellent
and stable relationship with its supply chain partners and understood
the significance of advanced and effective supply chain management
to the Company’s sustainable development. The Company and its
suppliers jointly committed to the vision of building high quality

projects and society while promoting business development.

The Group’s procurement management system effectively monitors
the suppliers that cooperate with the Company. With a dedicated
procurement policy in place, the Company is able to ensure that
suppliers meet its requirements. Meanwhile, the Company has a
sound probity policy to prevent corruption of suppliers and transfer
of benefits between employees and stakeholders. When selecting
engineering suppliers, the Group conducts open, transparent
and objective bidding. During the supplier selection process, all
staff members are required to submit the inquiry results by each
department in accordance with the internal standard process and
obtain an approval from the relevant department before the relevant
supplier becomes a qualified supplier of the Group. For a supplier that
cooperates with the Group for the first time, the Group will review the
supplier’s bidding documents and the data provided by the supplier,
including business license, professional qualification certificate, safety
production license and other management system approval certificate,
business introduction, etc., to confirm the supplier’s legitimacy,
operating results, qualifications and background, and its compliance
with the Group’s standards and requirements. For suppliers subject to
daily management, the Company will only cooperate with them once
relevant department of the Company has approved the quotation of

relevant suppliers submitted by each department.
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In regulating the procurement and tendering process, we will assess
the environmental and social risks of our suppliers and ensure that our
suppliers meet our quality and environmental protection requirements
based on the principles of fair and equitable assessment. The Company
applies a tender process in selecting suppliers and requires suppliers
to provide documents such as their qualification certification and
company licenses. The Company’s site manager, together with
departments like contract department, purchasing department,
cost department and audit department, will keep an eye on the
performance of the suppliers. The Company’s leaders will be promptly
notified by relevant departments if any suppliers are found to be
noncompliant with the contract and the Company’s requirements. The
contract with such suppliers will be cancelled in a timely manner. We
conduct annual performance evaluation on our cooperative suppliers
to monitor and evaluate their work progress and quality as well as
their sustainable development performance. The suppliers that fail the
performance evaluation, such as violation of laws or regulations, and
bad operations, will be blacklisted by the Group, or even considered

never to be hired to ensure the quality of the Group’s projects.

Given the importance of green supply chain management, the
sustainability of suppliers is also one of the Group’s considerations.
The Company engages suppliers with product guarantees based on the
categories and types of environmental protection products required
to promote the use of environmental protection products and services
in selecting suppliers. The Company’s purchasing department will
compare the quotation by relevant suppliers and conduct site visit
to determine its environmentally friendly products supplier. The
operational data provided by suppliers, such as low carbon production,
use of environmentally friendly materials and green operation, are
the key considerations of the contract department. Under the same
conditions, we will basically prefer suppliers in the same region in
order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from transportation. In
2023, there were a total of 85 suppliers under the Group’s reporting
scope, with 56 in Nanjing, 16 in Jiangsu Province (except Nanjing),
10 in Shanghai and 3 in Shenzhen.
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Product Liability and Quality of Services

While providing high-quality real estate projects, the Group is
also committed to implementing various measures, so we always
have strict standards for project management and internal control.
Every detail of the Group’s projects is meticulous. All construction
work is conducted strictly in accordance with the Regulations on
the Quality Management of Construction Projects issued by the
State Council, and all contractors recruited conform to stringent
qualification requirements. Departments involved in project design,
cost control and project management must carry out project planning,
procurement, construction, supervision, acceptance and warranty
according to the Group’s standardised project management process.
All the Group’s projects are filed with the competent government
authorities in compliance with the requirements of laws and
regulations, and relevant licenses are obtained. After the completion of
a project, an on-site inspection conducted by the relevant authorities
of the government is required before receiving the completion record
certification to ensure the safe delivery of the project. The Group’s
standardisation requirements for projects not only can reduce internal

management risks, but also ensure the consistency of project quality.

In addition, the Group has purchased the public liability insurance
for all commercial properties to protect the rights and interests of
customers. If a customer is dissatisfied with a product or service, he/
she can lodge a complaint by telephone, e-mail or WeChat. The Group
will immediately assign an employee to follow up on the complaint,
and the case must be reported within the specified time limit, so as
to ensure that it can be handled in a timely and effective manner.
The Company will actively discuss with customer and determine a
solution if there is a problem in the product, with the aim to improve
customer’s satisfaction and maintain the Company’s goodwill and
image. During the Year, the Group has not received any major

complaint about the products or setvices.
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Intellectual property rights and privacy protection

The Group attaches great importance to customer relations and
has fostered close relationships with customers through various
communication channels. The Group has an enterprise resource
planning system for statistics of relevant consumer information. In
light of the personal information of customers contained in the system
and for the purpose of protecting the privacy of consumers, the Group,
in accordance with the General Principles of the Civil Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations related to
protection of the right to use personal data and privacy, requires that
the data inputting and system maintaining should be only carried
out by related and authorised salespersons, and customer data should
not be transferred to other departments or third parties without the
approval of the management to reduce the risk of customer privacy
leakage. In respect of personal data collection, the Company uses a
system that settings do not grant access to relevant data to nonrelated
personnel. In the process of project marketing, the Group is fully
aware of the importance of accurate information. According to
the requirements of the Regulations on the Release of Real Estate
Advertising and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, each customer shall be provided with real, legal and accurate
real estate advertising information to avoid any false, misleading or

inductive contents for customers, so as to reduce customer’s risk.

The Group values the importance of, and complies with the relevant
laws and regulations for, intellectual property rights protection. All
softwares used by the Group are genuine. In respect of project design,
the design department staff will regularly check for any infringement
of the Group’s intellectual property rights in the market. The Group’s
designs are all original creations by our staff. To protect and safeguard
our intellectual property rights, we acknowledge the intellectual

property rights of the products used in projects.
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Anti-Corruption

In order to maintain a corporate culture of honesty and integrity,
the Group has established a complete governance structure and
comprehensive risk assessment management and internal control
systems to provide clear principles and guidelines of business ethics
to all Directors, staff members and suppliers. All staff members of
the Group can learn about the Group’s requirements on honesty and
integrity of the staff, reporting system, definition of staff corruption,
etc, by referring to the internal honesty and integrity management
regulations. In accordance with relevant regulations, the Company
prohibits its staff to take advantage of their positions to solicit
property from others, or illegally accept property from others or solicit
and accept bribes for the benefit of others, examples include, for
the purpose of purchasing goods and materials, enter into contracts
that are unfair or prices are significantly higher than market prices,
and receive or solicit benefits in this regard. On the other hand, the
Company requires all staff members to spontaneously report and hand
in presents, cash gifts, and other items. Staff are also required to obtain
the prior approval of the General Manager when received business
invitation. New recruits are required to attend anti-corruption
trainings as well as integrity and self-discipline courses to enhance

their integrity awareness and anti-corruption ability.

The internal audit department of the Group will carry out audit on
all subsidiaries every year to check whether there are any wrongdoings
like corruption. Meanwhile, the Company has established various
anti-corruption reporting channels, including telephone, email,
WeChat official account, etc. To protect the identity of the informer,
all complaints about alleged corruption cases can be reported
anonymously or non-anonymously. Upon receipt of a report, the
Group’s legal department and the internal audit office will investigate
and handle the complaints under the guidance of the Group’s vice
chairman. During the Year, the Group did not violate any laws or
regulations relating to anti-corruption, monopolisation and improper
receipt of benefits, and did not dismiss or take disciplinary action

against any staff member for corruption incidents.
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BS.

Community Investment

To fulfill its social responsibility, the Group is always committed to
repaying the society by playing an active role in charity events such
as donations, establishment of foundation, blood donation by staff
and offer free commercial space to the community for public welfare
activities. In the future, the Group will continue to provide the
previous community investment services. During the Year, the Group
continued to make major contributions to education and make use
of resources to cultivate future elites for the society. Meanwhile, the

Group has made donations to the community from time to time.
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Wk &l REPORTING INDEX
B3 il R A
Subject Area Content =411
Section in the
report
A1l HE 4 R R T SR P~ e K R LS BT o E R E R A B AR S NY  | AL PR
Emissions The followings that relate to exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into Emissions
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes:
@ BOK: K
the policies; and
(by  TESFEEAT A TR B A B R LA
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
All PR A AR B DR R (M) AL e
Types of emissions and respective emissions data (tonne) Emissions
Al2 Bk (R ) KRB ] (RE IR 2) T2 SR P i (LAMRRT D) I () % | AL BE®
(D g & B A Emissions
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonne) and (if
applicable) intensity (per unit of output)
Al3 FrE A ERE Y A (LIMEE) & (@) B2 (US4 8 TitE) AL B
Total hazardous waste generated (in tonne) and (if applicable) intensity (per employee) Emissions
Al4 P A R E Y AR (LIMERH ) K (I 1) B (ML 4 B TRHE) AL PR
Total non-hazardous waste generated (in tonne) and (if applicable) intensity (per employee) Emissions
ALS bt 7 FEEARG B e B T R BB 252 B R AL B
Descriptions of steps taken to mitigate emissions and results Emissions
A16 i R IA F KA E BRI 7k > ol B b B PR BRI A BR o | AL R
Descriptions of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled and descriptions of Emissions
steps taken to mitigate waste disposal.
A2 BREA AR T EIR (LS BB TR - K B At AR ) B BOR A2 BB
Use of Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials. Use of
Resources
A21 BB T EE B/ SR AR IR (16 SR SAERE (A TR T TORS310) | A2, WEOR{E
B B (DU 8 i B RHEE) o Use of
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total Resources
(000 kWh) and intensity (per unit of output).
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B3 A B A

Subject Area Content 41}
Section in the
report
A2.2 RFEK R R (L B AR ) A2. BRME M
Water consumption (tonne) in total and intensity (per unit of output) Use of
Resources
A23 it 7 4 =5 A RO 280 B PR BBA) 9 e S R A2. EIRME
Descriptions of measures taken to improve energy use efficiency and results Use of
Resources
A24 20 By B0 K U b AT AR AT R DA RBTRTSL A MK B AR I AR | A2 BIREEH
L6 H EERT R0 B Use of
Descriptions of issues (if any) in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, the water efficiency Resources
targets and the steps taken to achieve such targets.
A25 RS B T LA B AR (LMD A2 EIRRER
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonne) Use of
Resources
A3 B R RRER SRR BE AT NS BRIE B R IR R A B K B Y BIOR A3 BRI R
Environment and Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and natural KREW
Natural Resources resources Environment

and Natural

Resources
A3.1 M EGFHERERRAGRNERCERCRIE AR ENTE - | A3 BHER
Descriptions of the significant impacts of business activities on the environment and KNG
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Environment

and Natural

Resources

A4 RS sl ) D IR 3B 48 I T R B S B AT AR A R Y B R SR A B S L BUK A4 R IR
Climate Change Policies on identifying and responding to significant climate-related matters that have and Climate
may have an impact on the issuer. Change

A4l W O KT REE H AT NE AR BN E R HE - REHTE - A4 R IR
Descriptions of significant climate-related matters that have and may have an impact on Climate
the issuer and responses. Change

76 £l K b B A B A 5]l GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



BUE - A KR I
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B3 R B A
Subject Area Content 41}
Section in the
report
Bl &% A B FN AR - SR R BT AR R PR e - Zouil - R | Bl R
Employment DA R A 28 B AR I - Employment
The followings that relate to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, leaves, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare:
@ BOR; K&
the policies; and
(b)  RESTEEEAT N TR B B i A AL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
BL1 BV ~ R R (2SN 47 B4 A0 0400 O L - BL. 0
Total number of employees by gender, employment type (e.g. full-time or part-time), age Employment
group and region.
B1.2 SR~ 4 B 4R 5 8 3 6 fE B TR HE R B1. {E
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and region. Employment
B2 fifEHL% 4 A B R A 22 2 TARER I D IR I 0 B S S 0 FE 3 ) B2. il e B
Occupational Health The followings that relate to providing a safe working environment and protecting T
and Safety employees from occupational hazards: Occupational
(a) R & Health and
the policies; and Safety
(b)  RESFEEEAT AA TR B B i KL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
B2.1 % =4 (BRI ) AR AT B N R R B2. fFf AL
Number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the last 3 years (including the TR
reporting year). Occupational
Health and
Safety
B2.2 W TEHHE TR B2. fi e
Lost days due to work injury T
Occupational
Health and
Safety
B23 R 4R OB S 2 8 - A A BT B Ao B2, M
Descriptions of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are TA
implemented and monitored. Occupational
Health and
Safety
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B3 R B A
Subject Area Content =
Section in the
report
B3 & Ll A BRI 8 BB AT TARR A A0 B B R BUR « Sl 35 91 ) - B3. #JE L
Development and Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Bl
Training Descriptions of relevant training activities. Development
and Training
B3.1 FENER K AR B AR (AN s BRI - P AR L) B XA R A - B3. BJE L
The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee level (e.g. senior management Bl
and mid-level management). Development
and Training
B3.2 FEVE R R A B0 #1534 {E B 58 U A G T 380 R O B3. B /& L
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category. Bl
Development

and Training

B4 57 THER A B 1 2 T 5 T B4. 4 THER
Employment The followings that relate to preventing child and forced labour: Employment
Standards @ HR K Standards

the policies; and
(by  TESFEEAT A TR B A B R LA
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
B4.1 b g A w7 AR 00 ) 5 e DA S 28 T SR AR 55 T - B4. 4 THER
Descriptions of measures adopted to review recruitment practices to avoid child and forced Employment
labour. Standards

B4.2 fha i 7 5 B8 MU DU T BR A BRI DU BT BRI 2 R B4. 4 LHER

Descriptions of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Employment
Standards

Bs it Mg A L A8 O 0 BR5  A  JBRBCR o BS. At b
Supply Chain Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. HH
Management Supply Chain

Management

B5.1 Hi B P E R B - Bs. fit g

Number of suppliers by region. (=il
Supply Chain
Management
B5.2 AT B A A A SR8 e EL AT A R R A PR R Bs. fit i 4
Descriptions of practices of supplier engagement and number of suppliers where the HH
practices are being implemented. Supply Chain
Management
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Bl A B A
Subject Area Content 41}
Section in the
report
B5.3 A Bk 1 A (R A BR T A TR B R0 - LA A BT B | Bs. e
Bk e B
Descriptions of the practices for identifying environmental and social risks at each stage of Supply Chain
the supply chain and related implementation and monitoring methods. Management
B5.4 AL TE SRS (e R O 620 PR BRORE it SRS (KRR AR AR BT R B 05 < | Bs. LM g
Descriptions of practices to promote the use of environment-friendly products and services (gl
when selecting suppliers, and related implementation and monitoring methods. Supply Chain
Management
B6 EmhHAER A B BT R 0 RS ) e R B 2 &~ B R AR R ALRR AL DA R RO - | Bo. FE A AT
RBE R The followings that relate to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters Product
Product Liability and | pertaining products and services provided and remedial methods: Liability
Quality of Services (a) R 5 K
the policies; and
(b)  HESFEEAT A R B A B L
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
B6.1 85 B JHE AR A IR 2 L 2 o T 2 o i 9 1 2 L B6. 7 i B 1T
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. Product
Liability
B6.2 B M B 7 B S R B L BB o o B, A 1T
Number of product/service-related complaints received and how they are dealt with. Product
Liability
BG.3 i 2t B A e R R TR E A B PR A 0 BG. FE b H AT
Descriptions of practices of intellectual property right maintenance and protection. Product
Liability
B6.4 fha e it B A AR R B ] A Ko B6. F fh 7 AT
Descriptions of quality assurance process and product recall procedures. Product
Liability
BG.5 it T 2 RO I B B AL BOR > DL RAR BR BT R B i B6. E fh 7 AE
Descriptions of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are Product
implemented and monitored. Liability
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B3 R B A

Subject Area Content 41}

Section in the
report

B7 RE5 A BB IR B R R R R B7. R&T5

Anti-Corruption The followings that relate to prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering: Anti-
(a) HUOR s I Corruption
the policies; and
(b)  RESFEEEAT N TR B B i R KL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer

B7.1 TA ST M BB AT N B B 52 3 O340 B AR R AP IO BOH RRaA&S R o | B7. RATS
Number of closed corruption lawsuits filed against the issuer or its employees during the Anti-
Reporting Period, and the outcomes of the cases. Corruption

B7.2 8 20 9 SR A B B R A S DL R BT B B 3 B7. R&T5
Descriptions of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, and how they are Anti-
implemented and monitored. Corruption

B7.3 fhh 1o R S B TAR B S & B B7. R &5
Descriptions of anti-corruption trainings provided to the chairman and staff. Anti-

Corruption

B8 fhlEmE A B DAAL 1.2 SR T R BT AE A R AR L CE B B @ B AL A | Bs. ALK

Community A BUR Community
Investment Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where Investment
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.

BS.1 BRI (WAE - BREEE - SRR @ k- BF) o BS. LR % &
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental matters, labour needs, health, Community
culture and sports). Investment

BS.2 TEREHG BB B IR (0 e 8B ) - BS. tL IR 1% &
Resources contributed to the focus area (e.g. capital and time). Community

Investment
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
practices to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and enhance the performance
of the Group. The Board reviews and improves the corporate governance practices
from time to time to ensure that the Company is under the leadership of an effective

board to optimise return for the shareholders.

As a responsible business enterprise, the corporate governance standards of the
Company are built on the principles of independence, accountability, transparency

and honesty.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Year, the Company has complied with the code provisions (the “Code
Provision”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules and most of the recommended best practices contained therein
except for the deviation below. Code Provision C.1.6 states that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should also attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, who is an independent non-executive Director, could
not attend the annual general meeting on 29 May 2023 (the “2023 AGM”) due
to other engagement. Save for the above, all the other independent non-executive
Directors attended the 2023 AGM.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company with

an aim to maintain and improve its high standard of corporate governance practices.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Upon specific
enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

during the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board members for the Year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors
Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

Mr. Li Sze Keung

Ms. Wong Lai Ling

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr. Wong
Kam Fai (an executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an executive
Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata, a non-
executive Director). Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of Mr. Janata David (a former
executive Director), and the uncle of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an executive Director) and

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an executive Director).

As at 31 December 2023, the Board currently comprises a total of 9 Directors, with
four executive Directors, two non-executive Directors, and three independent non-
executive Directors. The number of independent non-executive Directors represents
more than one-third of the Board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 100 to 108 of this Annual
Report.

The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”)
provides that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Also, pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-
election at the next following general meeting or next following annual general

meeting of the Company respectively.
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Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year. Special meetings of the
Board will be convened whenever necessary. The Board convened a total of five

meetings for the Year.

Details of the directors’ attendance at the Board meetings, Board committee

meetings and general meetings during the Year were as follows:

/BT R

Meeting Attended/Held
R R
2RERE FHEA® FWMZRe R4ZA® BEXe  RIKE
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General General
Full Board ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
45 - - 11 11 0/0
505 - 212 - 11 0/0
415 - - - 11 0/0
45 - - - 11 0/0
55 - - - 11 0/0
5/5 = - - 11 0/0
415 3/4 212 - 011 0/0
5/5 414 - 11 11 0/0
55 4/4 212 1/1 1/1 0/0

The Boatd is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Company in a
responsible and effective manner. It is responsible for formulating strategies and
management policies of the Company, approving the strategic objectives of the
Company and ensuring the availability of necessary financial and other resources
to meet such objectives. The Board also constantly supervises and reviews the
Company’s regulations and rules. The Directors perform their duties in a
faithful and diligent manner and act in the best interests of the Company and its

shareholders as a whole.
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Moreover, the Board is also responsible for presenting a clear and balanced
assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects, preparing accounts that
give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position on a going concern

basis and disclosing other inside information.

The management is responsible for implementing the policies and strategies as
determined by the Board, and is delegated with the daily management, operations

and administration of the Company.

The Company has three independent non-executive directors, at least one of whom
has appropriate financial management expertise in compliance with the Listing
Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from all the
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board is of the view that all the independent non-executive Directors are

independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and
businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. The Company Secretary and our legal advisors also provide the
Directors with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and

other relevant legal and regulatory requirement from time to time.

All of the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company has
arranged in-house trainings for the Directors to update and refresh their relevant

knowledge during the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, all of the Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr.
Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Mr. Suwita
Janata, Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, Ms. Wong Lai Ling and
Mr. Li Sze Keung had confirmed that they had complied with the Code Provision
C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code during the Year or his tenure during the

Year by participating in continuous professional development.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, has executive responsibilities and provides
leadership to the Board in terms of establishing policies and business directions.
He ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.
He also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues to be discussed at
Board meetings. Mr. Wong Kam Fai, the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for
overseeing the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Mr. Wong Yam
Yin is the father of Mr. Wong Kam Fai.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a formal letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
one year or two years, subject to termination provisions therein and retirement by

rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company currently has established three committees with respective
responsibilities, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All Board committees
are empowered by the Board under their terms of reference which have been posted

on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the Company’s financial reporting process, half-yearly and annual
results, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal
audit function performed by the internal audit department of the Group and
provide advice and comments to the Board. The Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Sze Keung (Chairman), Ms.
Wong Lai Ling and Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, who together have sufficient
accounting and/or financial management expertise and/or business experience to

carry out their duties.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings to review the interim
results and annual results and provide recommendation on the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems. All members of the Audit Committee
attended the meetings. The Directors and the representatives of the external auditor

of the Company also attended the meetings.

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Directors on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on
such remuneration; to assess performance of each executive Director; to recommend
to the Board on the terms of the specific remuneration package of each executive
Director and senior management (adopted the approach under Code Provision
E.1.2(c)(ii)); to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by Directors from time to time; and to
review and/or approve the matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (Chairman) and Ms. Wong

Lai Ling, and an executive Director, Mr. Wong Kam Fai.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to assess
the performance of the executive Directors, review the remuneration of the
executive Directors under their service contracts and the remuneration policies
of the Company, and made recommendations to the Board. All members of the

Remuneration Committee attended the meetings.

Pursuant to the Code Provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, details

of the annual remuneration of the senior management by band for the Year are as

follows:
(EIEUN ¢
Number of employees
HK$Nil-HK$1,000,000 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 2

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Year are set out in note 9 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis; to make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; to identify, select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board
on relevant matters relating to the appointment or reappointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee consists of an
executive Director, Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman), and two independent non-

executive Directors, namely Ms. Wong Lai Ling and Mr. Li Sze Keung.

The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination policy, setting out the
approach for nominating and appointing a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. Selection of candidates will be
based on criteria including character and integrity, qualifications, any measurable
objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board, any potential contributions
that the candidate can bring to the Board and the candidate’s willingness and
ability to devote adequate time to discharge his/her duties. Upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, the Nomination Committee will evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee will rank them by order of preference based on the

needs of the Company and recommend to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, recommend the re-
appointment of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting and review
the policies implemented by the Nomination Committee. All members of the

Nomination Committee attended the meetings.
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The Board’s Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy, which sets out the approach to
the diversity of the Board. The Company recognises the importance of diversity to
corporate governance and an effective Board. The board diversity policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve Board diversity, so as to ensure that the Board members
possess appropriate skills, experience and diverse views necessary for the business of
the Company. In determining the Board composition, the Board and Nomination
Committee consider a range of diversity elements, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based on merit and

objective criteria while taking into full account the interest of the Board’s diversity.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity elements and
measurable objectives which will be reviewed regularly. Such measurable objectives
shall include, but be not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and/or terms of service. The
final decision will be made according to the strengths of the candidate and his/
her contribution that would bring to the Board. Furthermore, pursuant to code
provision B.1.3 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Board should review the
implementation and effectiveness of the issuer’s policy on board diversity on an
annual basis. The Nomination Committee has performed the above duties in terms
of selection of candidates and review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company’s diversity policy during the Year. Having considered the business and
development needs of the Company, the Nomination Committee considers that the
current Board is sufficiently diversified in terms of its skills, experience, knowledge,

length of service and independence.

To comply with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Company appointed a female
director to join the Board by 27 May 2022. The Company is contemplating to
appoint more female directors by 31 December 2024. The Nomination Committee
will proactively consider the increase in the proportion of female members
when selecting and making recommendations on suitable candidates for Board
membership. Through the board diversity policy of the Company and the annual
assessment by Nomination Committee on the Board structure, the Company could

develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity not only within the
Board but among its workforce generally. As at the date of this report, the number
of female employees of the Group accounted for 52.8% of the total workforce. The
Board is of the view that the Group has achieved gender diversity among employees.
The Group's recruitment strategy is underpinned by the appointment of the right
employee for the right position, in order to achieve employee diversity for all
employees (including the senior management) in terms of gender, age, cultural and

educational background, expertise, skills and know-how.
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Corporate governance function

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties which include
developing, reviewing and approving the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board held meetings to review the Company’s policies and

practices on corporate governance and perform all duties as set out above.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

By recognising the importance of stakeholders at the Board level and throughout the
Group, we strive to create values to the stakeholders through sustainable growth and

continuous development.

The Group has set out the purpose, values and strategies to provide guidance
on employees’ conduct and behaviours as well as the business activities. The

Group’s objective, value and strategies are set out below:

1. The Company’s objective is insisting on providing customers with high
quality products and services with rich professional expertise, so as to improve

their quality of life.

2. The Company’s value is adhering to “taking the values of integrity and
pragmatism as the guideline for the business development of the Company
and being committed to keeping promises, staying truthful, transparent,
pragmatic and consistent in our actions, so as to bring high-quality services

and positive impact to customers and project areas.

e The Company'’s strategies are (i) developing integrated commercial and
residential property projects; (ii) retaining long-term ownership of the
selected shopping malls for recurrent rental income; and (iii) focusing on
the development of projects that are connected to or in proximity to Metro

stations or other transport hubs.
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The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its business strategies
and keep track of the changing market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive
measures will be taken to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to

foster the sustainability of the Group.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 which give a true and fair view of
the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.
The Directors are aware of the Group’s net current liabilities of RMB3,160.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and these conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

Pursuant to the code provision C.5.9 of the Corporate Governance Code, the
management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as
are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The
Company provides all members of the Board with regularly updates on Company’s

performance, positions and prospects.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the section headed

“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this Annual Report.

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION MEASURES

Disclaimer of opinion by the Auditors and the management’s
position

As stated in the independent auditor’s report (the “Independent Auditor’s
Report”) prepared by the Auditors and included in this report, and Auditors have
issued a disclaimer of opinion in relation to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Disclaimer of Opinion”)
due to the existence of multiple uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. For details, please refer to the
sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” in

the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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The Directors have been undertaking measures to improve the Group’s liquidity
and financial position, which are set out in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statement. The validity of the going concern assumptions on which the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including: (i) successfully completing
amendments to the terms and conditions of the senior notes with the senior notes
holders; (ii) successfully negotiating with the banks for renewal of existing bank
loans; and (iii) successfully expedite the sales of properties and investment properties
and collection of receivables to generate sufficient cash flows from its future

operations in view of the volatility of the China real estate market.

If the Group fails to achieve one or more of the above-mentioned plans and measures
on a timely basis, it may not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been

reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

The management’s position, view and assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion

In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the Directors have undertaken
a number of plans and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial

position, including that the Group:

(i) had already discussed with the major bond holders, the Directors will
take steps to come up a senior note restructuring proposal. The Group has
appointed financial advisors for the purpose of facilitating timely negotiations
of various proposed amendments to the terms and conditions with the bond

holders.

(i) has been actively negotiating with the banks for renewal of existing banking
facilities, as well as discussing with various parties (including but not limited
to banks and financial institutions) to secure additional sources of financing

for the Group; and

(iif)  is working diligently to assess and improve its liquidity position. In order to
generate sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations, the Group will continue
its efforts to recover from the volatility in the China real estate industry,
and expedite sales of properties and investment properties, and collection
of receivables, while maintaining more stringent cost control measures
of containment of discretionary capital expenditures. The Group aims to

gradually address the Group’s debt obligations within a reasonable timeframe.
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The Directors ate of the opinion that, taking into account the above plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the next 18
months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

year ended 31 December 2023 on a going concern basis.

Our external auditor, has indicated to the Company that whether the multiple
uncertainties relating to going concern can be adequately addressed depends o the
implementation of the Company’s actions taken/proposed plans and measures to

be taken as mentioned above to address the Disclaimer of Opinion.

Audit Committee’s view on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion,
the management’s position concerning the Disclaimer of Opinion (the
“Management’s Position”) and measures taken by the Group for addressing
the Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the Management’s
Position based on the reasons above. Moreover, the Audit Committee requested
the management to take all necessary actions to address the uncertainties regarding
going concern underlying the Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee had
also discussed with our external auditor regarding the financial position of the
Group, measures taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered their rationale

and understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.

INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company has maintained various measures and mechanisms to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the Board. For instance, in compliance
with Code provisions C.5.6 and C.5.9 of Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, the
Board and its committees are provided with adequate information and have separate
and independent access to the senior management of the Company for purpose of
making informed decisions. In particular, all members of the Board are entitled
to have timely access to the information of the Group (including but not limited
to management accounts, operational results and statistics, audit results and other
relevant industry and market information and forecasts), as well as assistance
of the Company Secretary and professional advice if necessary at the expense of
the Company. Besides, the Audit Committee is also entitled to contact, and has
discussed with, external auditors of the Company on an annual basis to discharge
its duties. Board members are also encouraged to seek inputs from other members,
employees, other stakeholders as well as investors (via the investor relations channels)
in appropriate circumstances to ensure that different perspectives are taken into

account in the decision making process.
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The implementation and effectiveness of the relevant measures and mechanisms
are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis. The Board is satisfied that there
are effective and sufficient formal or informal channels in place to ensure that

independent views and input are reached at the Board level.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and clear assessment of
the Group’s performance and prospects. The Directors acknowledged their
responsibility for preparing the accounts that give a true and fair view on the
Group’s financial position on a going-concern basis and other financial disclosures.
Management of the Company provides all relevant information to the Board, giving
its members sufficient explanation and information that they need to discharge
their responsibilities. A statement by the auditor of the Company in respect of their
reporting responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report section

contained in this Annual Report.

During the year, the remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by

the Company’s auditors to the Group was as follows:

ik 5 3 &8
Type or services Amount
N
RMB’000

BEZF-_"HFTZA=T—HIEFEENE2EFEZRY  Annual audit service for the year ended 31 December 2023
— FefwE st A R A A () — Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (“Prism”) 1,600

I &R Non-audit services

— S5 B 2 S - KPMG 500
2,100

AR
NEMEBEAFL2WES - AHALFHE
FHonANENERGESR  ATHERE
HmERgRIE

WoFEZHEL—H—H > ER%EL L (BALN
F2RAE B3 AR A H ¥ HH) EERTA
NEME - FLLOHRRER > FEHEZA
DI s R/INRE 2 KB R

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Sectetary is a full time employee of the Company and has day- to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the Board

and is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.

Ms. Li On Lok who is a full time employee of the Company and has day- to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs was appointed as the Company Secretary on 1
November 2022. Ms. Li has confirmed that for the Year, she has taken no less than

15 hours relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law

(Revised). However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, it provides that:

Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general

meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholders”) shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

Company.

Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of the
requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong located at Room 712, 7/F,
Block B, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong. The Company

will endeavour to respond in a timely manner.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meetings

Eligible shareholder who wishes to put forward proposal(s) at shareholders’
meeting which is to be held, should submit a written notice of the proposal with
his/her detailed contact information to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong located at Room 712, 7/F,
Block B, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association, shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedure set out in

“Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting” above.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director at a general meeting

If a shareholder intends to propose a person for election as a Director at any general
meeting, he must sign a notice (the “Notice”) stating his intention to propose
such person for election. The Notice which includes the personal information of the
proposed person as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a letter of
consent signed by the proposed person stating his willingness to be elected shall be
lodged with the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong located
at Room 712, 7/F, Block B, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, Fortress Hill, Hong
Kong; or the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, located at shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong,
with at least seven (7) days’ notice given. If the Notices are submitted after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election, the period
for lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven

(7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper investor
relations play a vital role in creating shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. As such, the Company
has adopted a stringent internal control system to ensure true, accurate, complete
and timely disclosure of information in order to ensure all shareholders as well as
the public have equal access to information. The management of the Company
has proactively taken and will continue to take the following measures to ensure

effective shareholders’ communication and transparency:

J Maintain frequent contacts with shareholders and investors through various

channels such as meetings, telephone and emails;

J Regularly update the Company’s news and developments through the

investor relations section of the Company’s website;

J Arrange on-site visits to the Group’s projects for potential investors and

research analysts.
Through the above measures, the Company endeavors to communicate with the

investment community and provide them with the latest development of the Group

and the PRC real estate industry.

2023 4E % ANNUAL REPORT 2023

95



ERAPR R
Corporate Governance Report

A AR b T AR AR R BB A B ik
ERERL AR E W T B R A o AR F
28 ) T O e IR 5 5 SR o T A R R R %
i~ AIE - R AERGER  BRERR - #%
EE T AR B AT RE

WA R RBEEEE : B FEERAF
W TEEEME - (b)HE 2 (852) 2566 3070 F,
(c)%ﬂ?IR@gwtd.com.hk » H N EH G R
EHAM o

OO AR AR B R 2 BOR W BUAT 15 D
BANE - RFR  EFGRR > BRAFE
BEA 20 MR 10 A JBESR T 08 R AR A
BREET -

JEL A I e Ay ) B

B R RO R B B e T B I
Bl RAERF R R Z AN - AR B ERLEF
IR R MR BUEE - RIFHE
B R R Bk L B A 7R 0k A8 ) 1 T 5
BEORE > DARESF 8 ik BB REHR -

AT O A AR R YR T B AT A B
B RS BEF B EeiETE—
BHM R URERHETZAMHERTR -

AR TR A SR T B TR A A S R
B v 0 2 o L AT A R A > ELAPAG AR
RIET

FREFGERERLZAGHAREERE
B R Ry o B A o8 BE 2 A R AEAT AR AR -
e A AR R BT o % 5
ERRATRER -

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby
enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed

decisions.

In addition, shareholders and investors are welcome to write their enquires directly
to the Board (a) by mail to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong, (b) by fax on (852) 2566 3070 or (c) by email at IR@gwtd.com.hk.

The Board reviewed the implementations and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy during the Year. After review, the Board considered that
the shareholders communication policy remained effective and was properly
implemented given the multiple channels of communication in place during the
Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control of the Group
and for reviewing and maintaining its effectiveness of the systems. Procedures have
been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition, the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication and the compliance of applicable laws,

rules and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed on an
on-going basis by the Executive Directors, and are further reviewed and assessed by
the Board on an annual basis to ensure that the systems in place are effective and

adequate.

During the Year, the internal audit department of the Group has conducted an
assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems

of the Group and the assessment result was positive.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, covering financial, operational, compliance and risk management aspects.

The systems were considered effective and adequate.
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In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company has developed a
risk management process to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks and to
resolve material internal control defects (if any). Senior management, through the
Company’s internal audit department, is responsible for the annual risk reporting
process. Members of the internal audit department meet with various members of
the senior management to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to address
material internal control defects (if any), including any changes relevant to a given
year. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are documented.
The risk assessment is reviewed by certain members of senior management and

presented to the Audit Committee and the Board for their review.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management based on (i) the severity of
the impact of the risk on the Company’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the
risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which a risk could occur.

The Group’s risk management framework includes the following elements:

o identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment and evaluate

the impacts of those risks on the Group’s business;
o develop necessary measures to manage those risks;
o monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The controls built into the risk management system are intended to manage, not

eliminate, significant risks in the Group’s business environment.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance. The system aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in

achieving the Company’s objectives.

The internal audit department reports the internal audit plan and results to the

Audit Committee directly.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal

control systems.

The Company have formulated an inside information policy providing guideline on

handling inside information.

2023 4E % ANNUAL REPORT 2023

O



ERAPR R
Corporate Governance Report

RECREPSKiT

AEE R RSB E T — RIVER > &
FRB BT B R B A D A R OR A
T 15 S g 44 7 V6 05 91585 571 7 78 o I B e il
HRE B B T O o B TR PR T B R R B B
Wl S dF i % s s A - R AR EH K
FRER A BT B T A R A R EIEA
BHE - &M #E S mE T RO B g B
PRI BRTE B R - B OR 0B SR A (i
BT A A AR R © G0 AC 42 IR /5 PR A 1
AN BE AR Y T 75 R BE > A SR L AR 5 BT AT 1Y
16 DL i R B 1] 2 8 38 R T S o ISR B R
MR E W SR -

BB R B 5 BUR
ANFEHAGRREABOEE > T2
BTREMN R AR SR T LU -

ARNFHIE T T RSN 5% — RV K5 -
AR R A~ 52 BUR U B - 18 A B B
BOEATAE A NG S - BREELEAL
AR SE B R AE - DA IEH SR E A 4R -

AN FIRBA R T R P B AR (BAE AR
B RSB I IRYY) > BB RIS B ]
F R TR B A T T o A MR ST A B A R
Mot SOk R R AL A BRI AT 2
% R S BT BRI A AT -

EZHEW2RAERTRRA e RER
b [ R B s Jwl o

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group has put in place a set of policy for the disclosure of inside information
which sets out the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner and in compliance with
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
Unless the inside information falls within any of the safe harbors as permitted
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Group is required to disseminate
such information through the electronic publication system operated by the Stock
Exchange to the public in a timely manner. All Directors, Senior Management and
relevant employees are required to take reasonable precautions for preserving the
confidentiality of inside information and the relevant announcement (if applicable)
before publication. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained, the Group will in a timely manner disclose the information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable. The policy and its effectiveness are

subject to review on a regular basis.

Whistleblowing and Anti-corruption Policy

The Company takes a zero-tolerance attitude toward corruption, implements anti-

corruption policies that apply to all staff, and rewards the whistleblowers.

The Company formulated a series of rules and measures, including such as the Code
of Conduct for purpose of strictly prohibiting any offering, accepting or claiming
bribery, gifts, hospitality and any other form of activity intended to affect the

Company'’s relevant business decision for abnormal or inappropriate advantages.

The Company also opened special channels for honesty issues reporting (including
via telephone, email and WeChat official account) to encourage whistleblowers to
perform the honesty supervision system of the Company, and actively report cases of
embezzlement, corruption and other violations of laws, regulations and the rules and
measures of the Company. These whistleblowing and anti-corruption policies are

reviewed on an annual basis.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Ani-Corruption” in the

Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Report

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, setting out principles and guidelines
that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees developing a dividend distribution system as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. The
declaration of dividends, in addition to the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association, is subject to the discretion of the Board, which the
Company expects will take into account the financial results, shareholders’ interests,
general business conditions and strategies, capital requirements, contractual
restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders or by
the Company’s subsidiaries to the Company, taxation considerations and possible
effects on creditworthiness, statutory and regulatory restrictions. The Company
intends to distribute not more than 50% of its net distributable profits as dividends
to its shareholders for each financial year, subject to the conditions and factors as set

out above.
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Below are biographies of the current Directors and senior management of the Group.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (EEQK%), aged 82, is an executive Director and the
Chairman of our Board and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the
founders of our Group and our controlling shareholders. He is responsible for our
overall strategy, business and investment planning. Mr. Wong was appointed as a

Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience in business management. He established
Golden Wheel Trading Company Limited (4 ¥ % 5 A FR A Al ) in 1983 in Hong
Kong to engage in metal trading business. He, together with his wife Ms. Hung So
Ling, his elder son Mr. Wong Kam Fai and his younger son Mr. Wong Kam Keung,

Barry, established our Group in 1994 to engage in real estate development business.

Other than his role in our Group, Mr. Wong is involved in various associations,

including being:

o an Honorary President of Jiangsu Overseas Exchange Association*;

U an Honorary Member of China Overseas Exchange Association™;

. a consultant of Hunan Overseas Exchange Association*;

o a Standing Deputy Chairman of China Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

J a Chairman and Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Federation of

Overseas Chinese Association®;

J a Chairman and Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiao Yao

Association*;

U a Chairman & CEO of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*;

. a Standing Director of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations*;

an Honorary President and Vice President of The General Association of
Xiamen (H.K.) Limited*;

U an Honorary President of Federation of Hong Kong Guangzhou Community

Organisations™;
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

o an Honorary consultant of Federation of Hong Kong Jiangsu Community

Organisation*; and
. the Honorary Principal of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Qiaoxin School*.

Mr. Wong received various awards in recognition of his contribution to society,
including the “Chief Executive’s Commendation for Community Service (17 EL
Bt 18 R 7 221k )" by the Hong Kong government in 2004, the “Prize for
Outstanding Contribution to Beichuan Middle School*” by All-China Federation
of Returned Overseas Chinese Association®, the “Manufacturer with Honesty and
Integrity of 2010” by All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce, Hardware
and Electromechanical Chamber in 2010, the “Award of Outstanding Chinese”
jointly held by Global Outstanding Chinese Association and Chinese Literature
Publishing House in 2014, and the “Honor of Serving Chinese Society” by
Overseas’ Chinese Office of the State Council* in 2014. In 2019, Mr. Wong was
also awarded the “Overseas Chinese Charity Star”. In 2022, he was awarded
the Outstanding Hong Kong People 2022 “Meritorious Person Award” by the
Outstanding Chinese Culture Promotion Association, the Federation of Industry and

Commerce of all districts in Hong Kong and the Greater Bay Area Times Magazine.

Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in physics from Huaqiao University in

1967.

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr. Wong
Kam Fai (an executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an executive
Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata, a

non-executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares

and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Iﬁ%ﬁ), aged 53, is an executive Director, a vice chairman
of our Board, the chief executive officer of our Group and a member of our
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the founders of our Group and
our controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong held several positions within our Group
immediately after completion of his bachelor’s degree. Mr. Wong is responsible
for our overall business operation and management. Mr. Wong was appointed as a
Director on 26 April 2012. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the real

estate industry.
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Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

o a member of Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s

Political Consultative Conference*;

J a member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

J a Standing Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese
Associations*;

o a Chairman of Hong Kong Chiao Yao Association*;

o a Chairman of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*;

o a standing committee member of All-China Federation of Industry &

Commerce of Jiangsu Province*; and

U a Standing Deputy Chairman of Jiangsu Overseas Chinese Enterprise

Federation®*.

Mt. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in computer science from The University
of New South Wales of Australia in June 1994.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai is the elder son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an executive Director)
and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an

executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual

Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (E 1 #), aged 50, is an executive Director
and the standing vice president of our Group. He is also one of our controlling
shareholders. He is responsible for administration, human resources management
and projects development in Hunan province. Mr. Wong joined our Group in 1996.
Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012. He has over 20 years of

experience in the real estate industry.
Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

o a member of Hunan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

. a member of Youth Committee of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas

Chinese Association®;

. a standing committee member of Guangdong Provincial Overseas Chinese
Association®;

U a Director of Huaqiao University*;

J a Deputy Chairman of Hunan Provincial Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

J a Director of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations™;

U a standing committee member of Hunan Provincial Federation of Returned

Overseas Chinese Association*; and
. a Chairman of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*.
Mr. Wong completed the Foundation Studies Certificate Course of Unisearch
Limited (now known as New South Innovations Pty Limited, an entity controlled by
the University of New South Wales) in 1993.
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry is the younger son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an

executive Director) and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the younger brother of Mr. Wong

Kam Fai (an executive Director).
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The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual

Report.

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, aged 73, is an executive Director and a vice chairman of our
Board. Mr. Tjie is responsible for overseeing our Group’s operation, and formulating
our Group’s investment strategies. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Tjie was

appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Tjie is an Indonesian Chinese. Being an entrepreneur, he established his own

manufacturing business in Indonesia in the 1970s.

M:r. Tjie is involved in various associations, including being:

o a counselling committee member of Indonesia Kota Bandung Social Welfare
Fund*;

o a Chairman of Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association®;

. a Charter President of Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International®;

. an Honorary Chairman of Guangdong Provincial Federation of Indonesian

Social Institutes®;

an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Hakka Chinese Association*;

J an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Mei Zhou Club*; and

o an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Chinese Association*.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Tjie in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual

Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Suwita Janata, aged 73, is a non-executive Director and a vice chairman of our
Board. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Suwita Janata was appointed as a Director
on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Suwita Janata is an Indonesian Chinese. He commenced his career as an
entrepreneur by establishing his own trading company in the 1970s. Mr. Suwita
Janata and his family members established PT Golden and Mitra Property in

Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property development business in Indonesia.

Mr. Suwita Janata is/has been involved in various associations, including being:

o the former executive chairman of Chinese Committee of Indonesia Chamber

of Commerce (West Java)*;

o the former head of the Indonesia Chamber of Commerce (West Java),

Commerce Division*;

o an advisory council member of Indonesia Bandung Yayasan Dana Welfare

Foundation*; and

o a member of the supervisory committee of Indonesia Bandung Minnan

Gonghui*.

Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of Mr. Janata David (a former executive Director) and
the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar. Ms. Julia Oscar is the sister of Mt. Wong Yam Yin (an
executive Director) and the aunt of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an executive Director) and

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Suwita Janata in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual

Report.
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Mr. Gunawan Kiky, aged 76, is a non-executive Director. He joined our Group in

2002. Mr. Gunawan was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Gunawan is an Indonesian Chinese. In the 1980s, he established his own trading

business.

Mr. Gunawan joined Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International* in 1989. In
2000, Mr. Gunawan founded Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association* and

has been a financial supervisor of the association.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Gunawan in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (¥ 3% ), aged 56, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 1 August 2017. Mr. Wong

has over 12 years of experience in business strategies and corporate management.

Mr. Wong is currently a managing director of Wah Fu Petroleum Company
Limited, the business of which includes the wholesale distribution of petroleum and
petroleum products. Mr. Wong is mainly responsible for overseeing the financial

performance and implementing business strategies of that company.

He is also a director of Chuan Chiong Company Limited, which is involved in
the trading and wholesale of proprietary Chinese medicine, food product and tea,
where he is involved in the determination of that company’s strategic objectives and
policies and monitoring its overall achievement. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Ahsay Backup Software Development Company Limited which
is engaged in the provision of online backup software solutions to clients via the
internet, and listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with
stock code 8290.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Biomedical Engineering from Boston
University, the United States, and a Master of Engineering (Electrical) from Cornell

University, the United States, in May 1990 and August 1991 respectively.

Mr. Li Sze Keung (Z= ), aged 45, is an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Nomination Committee.
Mr. Li is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants.

Mzr. Li obtained his Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Li
joined PricewaterhouseCoopers as Senior Consultant of the Tax Department in
June 2004 and was promoted to the position of Manager in October 2007. He left
PricewaterhouseCoopers in February 2009 to join RSM Nelson Wheeler as Manager
of the Tax Services Department, and became a Senior Manager of the Tax Services
Department from January 2010 to October 2011. Mr. Li was a Senior Manager of
the Tax Department in Ernst & Young from December 2011 to May 2012. Mr. Li

has been the director of The Concord Consulting Service Limited since 2012.

Mzr. Li has over 16 years of experience in providing tax advisory and compliance
services to local and multinational corporations. Mr. Li has wide experience in
serving a wide spectrum of clients including trading companies and financial or
professional services firms. He has extensive experience in various tax advisory and

investment projects, and regularly represents clients in handling tax-related matters.

Ms. Wong Lai Ling (ERE %

and a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination

), aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director

Committee. Ms. Wong was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2022. She has wide
experience in real estate investment and in operating business of real estate agency,
money lending and car park operations. Ms. Wong holds an estate agent’s licence

(individual) issued by the Estate Agents Authority.
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Ms. Wong is the director of (i) Parton Parking Limited, a company founded by
her and engages in car park operations in Hong Kong; (ii) Polycom Limited, a
company founded by her and is a real estate agency licensed under the Estate Agents
Authority; and (iii) Eve International Enterprise Limited, a company founded by her
and engages in property investment. Since 2013, Ms. Wong has also been a manager
of CNUTI Finance Company Limited, a company licensed as a money lender under

the Companies Registry, which engages in money lending business.

Ms. Wong was also involved in various associations, including:

o the founding President and the third Vice President of the Hong Kong Asia
Youth Association from 2014 to 2017;

o the Treasurer of the Wanchai District Association (Community Volunteers)

from 2013 to 2014;

o the Director of World Federation of Chinese Associations of Industry and

Commerce in 2014;

U a member of the Friends of The Community Chest Wanchai District
Committee from 2014 to 2016;

o a member of the council of Overseas Xiamen Fraternal Association in 2015;
and
o vice chief officer of the social affairs department of the General Association of

Xiamen (H.K.) Ltd from 2015 to 2019.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tao Kang (P ) is the vice president of the Group. Mr. Tao is responsible
for overseeing our project management. Mr. Tao joined the Group in 2006. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Tao worked at various companies, including being the

Deputy Director of Nanjing Science and Technology Hall*.

Mzr. Tao obtained his diploma degree in industrial and civil construction from the
Southeast University* in 1994. Mr. Tao obtained his senior engineer qualification in

2007 and is a Registered Supervision Engineer and a Certified Constructor.

Ms. Sun Hui Hong (#% B AL) is the assistant vice president of the Group. She is
responsible for financial management. Ms. Sun joined the Group in 2009. Before
joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked at various companies, including being the
financial controller of Xinshi (Nanjing) Textile Co., Ltd* and the audit supervisor of

Ren Tianhua Zhongxing CPA, Jiangsu Branch*.
In 2001, she obtained her certified public accountant qualification.

Mr. Chen Gang (BR#) is the standing deputy general manager of the Group.
He is responsible for financial management. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2012.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked at various companies, including being
the Financial Controller of Jiangsu Joyque Information Industry Co., Ltd* and the

financial manager of Intech Group*.

Mr. Chen obtained his diploma degree in economic management from Hehai
University in 1999. In 2000, he obtained his middle level accountant qualification.

In 2013, he obtained his advanced level accountant qualification.

< In this report, if there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names and their English
translations of the entities or enterprises established in the PRC or Indonesia, the Chinese

names shall prevail.
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The Board is pleased to present the Annual Report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries established in
the PRC are primarily engaged in property development, property leasing and hotel
operation. The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating profit for the Year by principal activities is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report

and note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss and the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other

Comprehensive Income on pages 134 to 135 of this Annual Report.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 22 May
2024 to Tuesday, 28 May 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the identity
of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 21 May 2024.

The record date for such purposes is Tuesday, 28 May 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the

Year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Year are set

out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SETTING UP AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

As at the end of the Year, the Company had set up and/or acquired a total of 68
subsidiaries, the details of which are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save as disclosed above and except disclosed in notes 39 and 40 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company did not have any material acquisitions or

disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any reserves available for
distribution to owners (2022: approximately RMB605.9 million available for

distribution to owners).

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the Year are set out in Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and note 32

and 43, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report and note 28 and 29 to the

consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Directors confirm that during the Year, there has been no purchase, sale or

redemption of the Company’s listed securities.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association,
or the law of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-

rata basis to existing shareholders.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

Details on the charges of the Group’s assets and guarantees provided by the Group

are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report are:

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

M. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

Mr. Li Sze Keung

Ms. Wong Lai Ling

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at AGM and be eligible for re-election. Also, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-

election at the next following general meeting or next following AGM, respectively.
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Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung and Mr.
Gunawan Kiky are due to retirement from the Board by rotation at the AGM.
Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung and Mr.
Gunawan Kiky being eligible, offers themselves for re-election as an executive

Director and a non-executive Director at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be

independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of two years commencing from the listing date, and may thereafter be
renewed for a term of two years by agreement between the parties and in accordance
with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the
executive Director may terminate the service contract at any time by giving not less

than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from the listing date and may
thereafter be renewed for a term of two years in accordance with our Articles of
Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the non-executive
Director may terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than

three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year, and may be renewed for a term of one year
in accordance with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. The term of
the appointment letters of Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, Mr. Li Sze Keung and Ms.
Wong Lai Ling commenced on 1 August 2017, 14 June 2019 and 27 May 2022,
respectively. Either the Company or the independent non-executive Director may
terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than one month’s

notice in writing to the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract/appointment letter with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of

compensation.

1 14 20 R b B A B A 5] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



o e 4 PR

BWE_Z-=FLR-F-"F+-H=1+—H
IR A TEENHMH (BE0RE - Hek
FoAh AR ) BRARAR R B FO A 364 R A B A
R¥Es4HETK AR IIHET

WE_Z =L -_F__F+ZH=1+—H
LR I TAEE AL RS HMA L
P (645 37 4 S At 4 ) BB P AR ) 5 381 4t k)
ERARAG A NRE 1048 E T K AR
HHEIG -

TR R+ 7 45 0 16 A 1 8 7 1] 4% B
25 4 SR T4 1 2 I A SR A
S T 1 S B A B 0 - MRS —
S ASF—HE B EF A
Sof AR BRI T

PR E X ESN RBE_F =F+ A
St—AERZF S A=+ —HIEFE
74 2 [ AL 208 10 A ] 3 3 AR AT 0 3 2 S A
JEAHAE (T I RO -

B Rk Rk

FN AEEMEE R EERES R
YR Rl g B IE RS OE $i 1 PN
AT T B SR EE AR

HREH

Directors’ Report

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration (including fees, salaries and other benefits and retirement benefit
scheme contribution) paid to our Directors in aggregate for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 were approximately RMB8.4 million and RMB7.3

million, respectively.

The remuneration (including salaries and other benefits and retirement benefit
scheme contribution) paid to our Group’s five highest paid individuals in aggregate
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was approximately RMB10.4
million and RMB11.2 million, respectively.

For the Year, no emoluments were paid by our Group to any Director or any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining our Group or
as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived any emoluments

for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, by our Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

LOAN OR GUARANTEE FOR LOAN GRANTED TO THE
DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Group had not made any loan or provided any guarantee for
any loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management, its controlling

shareholders or their respective close associates.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief profiles of the current Directors and senior management of the Group are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” of this Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) adopted
by the Company on 10 December 2012, the Directors may invite participants
(including any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive Directors
or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies or any other person whom the Directors
consider, in their sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group)
(the “Participants”) to take up options at a price determined by the Board
provided that it shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of
the Company (the “Shares”) as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date on which
an offer is made by the Company to the grantee (which date must be a business day,
“Offer Date”); (b) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (c) the nominal value of a
Share.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
the Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human resources that are

valuable to the Group and any entity which the Group holds any equity interest.

The Share Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years commencing

from 10 December 2012, and expired on 10 December 2022.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 180,000,000, being 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue immediately following the completion of the initial public
offering of the Company, unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the

shareholders to refresh the limit.
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In respect of the maximum entitlement for each Participant, the total number of
the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders at a general meeting of the

Company.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted by any Participant who
accepts the offer by signing the letter of acceptance together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of the option within

such period as our Board may determine and specify in the offer letter.

The option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the option period which may be determined and notified
by the Board to the grantee at the time of making an offer which shall not expire

later than 10 years from the grant date.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, 4,500,000 share options were lapsed due
to the resignation of employees. There were 4,200,000 share options outstanding

under the Share Option Scheme.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme and the share options granted

thereunder, please refer to note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ERERTEETBABRBS - HBB  DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
By B G HE G WO RERE IR B AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

RoFE 2+ _A=Z+T—H, > #FERAEAANH As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
FEATBON B A A) S AT AR ) (O 28 executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
TR IR S B et ([ 38 20 B 1 B k] 1) 55 Xv ) Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Je A ~ AR R B An S AR E G > BEA DRtk A Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
o5 A AR HR B S KO0 B A9 5 352 R L E ZE T AR to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
B RS AR RE S JORE > AR L notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
TR B BR Bk C3 BT i i 1Y b T B AT N AT R Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in
5528 7y W REYESF I (TR ST R D) n AT Mg A Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

) B 3E B A IR AT

TA AR i) JBe A T A R T A i 2 Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company:
HE Long positions
i A2 )
OB 17 R AHE 2
EREY B/ R E JBe Ay S5 B Bt A 48 WEAE o
Approximate %
Aggregate number of interest in the
of sharesor  issued share capital
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest underlying shares of the Company™
FkE Z A% W i 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
F S Z S B 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation®
Hiifh Ao 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
A5t Toral: 736,475,600 40.94%
B L Z 1k B 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation®
Hiafh Ao 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
A5t Toral: 736,475,600 40.94%
Tjie Tjin Fung® YRR R A 80,268,950 4.46%
Interest of a controlled corporation
Suwita Janata® S YETL HE LR T (6 2% 128,539,400 7.14%
Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse
Gunawan Kiky® ZYEk ERE LR 86,360,950 4.80%

Interest of a controlled corporation
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Notes:

(1) The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2023 (that was,
1,799,020,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

2) Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Wong Yam Yin and his family (the
“Wong Family”). Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife.
Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and
Ms. Hung So Ling.

(3) Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

(4) Shares owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung consist of 80,268,950 shares held by Chun Hung

Investments Limited, a company owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung and his family.

) Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

6) Shares owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Fire Spark
Holdings Limited, a company owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky and his family, and (ii)
6,092,000 shares held by Mr. Gunawan Kiky.
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T A A ) A R R A Interests in debentures of the Company:
JA T — %
CHE b RS
[}S &4 Ve %A ELivg TR fi i £ fBE 8 48 fE e W H
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures
Currency of debentures in same class
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Debentures bought in issue
FHE Z YR R £ O ESn 2,080,800 466,662,503
Wong Yam Yin Interest of a controlled corporation™ USD
gt T UNG ESSin 1,060,800 466,662,503
Beneficial owner® USD
AL .
&%l Total: 3,141,600
B ) R A £ 2,080,800 466,662,503
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation® USD
Hit A A e 1,060,800 466,662,503
Beneficial owner® USD
&5l Total: 3,141,600
B R A E L O XL 2,080,800 466,662,503
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation™ USD
Hi A A XL 1,060,800 466,662,503
Beneficial owner® USD
Al Total: 3,141,600
Suwita Janata HadAa A E0 226,666 466,662,503
Beneficial owner uSDh
Gunawan Kiky HadAa A ESn 4,616,841 466,662,503
Beneficial owner uUsSh
FfFE - Notes:

(1) GESHE 2,080,800 3% I B fEHE RS i £ R KR (1) These debentures in a sum of USD2,080,800 are held by Golden Wheel Realty, a company

R 2 W) i R AT o controlled by the Wong Family.
(2) AR B E RS A - (2)  These debentures are jointly owned by the Wong Family.
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Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and/or short positions of the persons in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

A 7

e S A Bl BT IR A 25
et 48 o BRE L

Approximate

percentage of
Aggregate number interest in the

of shares or  issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest underlying shares of the Company™
FhE A5k B 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
HR®KO XAk W i 706,785,600 39.29%
Hung So Ling®” Interest of a controlled corporation
e Z A B R AR 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation®
iAo 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 736,475,600 40.94%
Bl Z L B R 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation”
A A 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 736,475,600 40.94%
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BSR4, k4

Name of shareholder

By, AR

Capacity/Nature of Interest

e S A il
et 48

Aggregate number
of shares or
underlying shares

128,539,400

128,539,400

706,785,600

N/

C B AT RAHE 2
BATE O

Approximate

percentage of

interest in the

issued share capital
of the Company”

7.14%

7.14%

39.29%

1) The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2023 (that was,

Suwita Janata® Z Ve ERE R B E RS
Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse
Oscar Julia® ZREE R AR RS
Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse
EWEXARAA L ErE 2PN
Golden Wheel Realty Company  Beneficial owner
Limited®
Bif5E Notes:
O RZEZEF+HZAZH—HAALEDBEITRG

2

(3)

)

A8 (F51,799,020,000 %) T4 A FHAAA) 20 E o

FHEBRLE MERLL FHELAERTHR
S A I B B S R E R AR Y A
BEARAFREAE M 706,785,600 By o T KB
SRR AR FE - FHIMEA R EHE
JeE B EERB A I R R LR -

JBC 3 ) B SRR e A e SRR e A R B R o

Suwita Janata S5 4E AT 19 I 7 €2 45 (i) B Suwita Janata
JEE G WA A B R AR R A A
180,268,950 It B 47 » K (ii)Julia Oscar & 1: 2 &
A2 7] G DK 3 I AT R 2 7 F5 A7 19 48,270,450
JB B AR © Suwita Janata 564 2 Julia Oscar 20 1 3L K
LER7 oiaslii) (SNE

Julia Oscar 2 + #1903 45 (i) 1 Julia Oscar &
LR E A A A R BB R A F A
148,270,450 & J& A > B (ii) B Suwita Janata 5 4
AEHEA A T A A R TR
80,268,950 B A 13 © Julia Oscar % 1 £} Suwita Janata
SR IR ZET S SR S e IR o

1,799,020,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

2) Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family. Mr. Wong Yam Yin and
Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung,
Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling.

(3) Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

(4) Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

) Shares owned by Ms. Julia Oscar consist of (i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar, and (ii)
80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata. Ms. Julia Oscar is the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata and
the younger sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.
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Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2023, no person had an interest or a short position in the shares or the
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO and no person
was, directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
the Company, or of any other company which is a member of the Group, or in any

options in respect of such share capital.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during

the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as adopted on 10 December 2012 and the
redemption of debentures and repurchase of shares as stated under the section headed
“Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities” of this
Annual Report, at no time during the Year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (as defined under note
15.2 of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rule) to which the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any

time during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the applicable laws and regulations, every
Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in
their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the
Year. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors” and officers’ liability

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or might compete

with the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Reference is made to the non-competition deed (the “NCD”) dated 10 December
2012, the details of which are set out in the section headed “Relationship with
our Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Deed” of the prospectus issued
by the Company dated 31 December 2012. As at 31 December 2023, each of the
covenanters under the NCD who or which remained to be a controlling shareholder
of the Company and/or associate of any controlling shareholder of the Company
and/or director of any member of the Group, being Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr.
Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Ms. Hung So Ling, Golden Wheel
Realty Company Limited, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Chun Hung Investments Limited,
Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Fire Spark Holdings Limited, Mr. Suwita Janata, Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, Ms. Julia Oscar and Golden Joy Forever
Holding Company Limited, declared that they have complied with the NCD. The
Board has also reviewed the relevant undertakings and has not noticed any non-

compliance incident.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance or contract of significance for the provision of services
(as defined under note 15.2 of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rule) to which the
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a controlling
shareholder of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, purchases from the Group’s single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 21.1% of the Group’s total purchases, and the percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined was 51.4% of the Group’s
total purchases. The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers combined was 5.0% of the Group’s total turnover. To the Director’s best
knowledge and belief, none of the Directors nor his close associates and none of the
shareholders interested in over 5% of the shares of the Company has any interest in

the above-mentioned suppliers and customers.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of approximately 581 (2022:
563) full-time employees in Hong Kong and China. The Group’s employment
contracts with its employees cover terms such as position, term of employment,
wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches, and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries, allowances,
pensions, performance bonus, share options and other employee benefits.
Remuneration is determined with reference to the performance, skills, qualifications,

experience of the employee concerned and the prevailing industry practice.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, work experience
and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of the employees

consisted of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the

basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The employees in Hong Kong are enrolled in the Mandatory Provident Fund
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Monthly
contributions are made by the Group which are 5% of the monthly income of the
employees as stipulated under the relevant requirements (if applicable), with the
maximum contributions of HK$1,500 monthly. No forfeited contributions (by
employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) were used to reduce the existing level of contributions and no
forfeited contribution was available as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 to reduce

future years’ contributions.
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Total employee costs for the Year, including directors” emoluments, amounted to
approximately RMB89.2 million (2022: RMB101.9 million).
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, none of related party transactions set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In
addition, there were no other transactions which constituted connected transaction(s)
or continuing connected transaction(s) for the Company under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions” stated
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during the

Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
Annual Report, the Company has maintained the public float as required by the

Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant impact
on the Group. The Group would seek professional advice from its legal advisers to
ensure transactions and business to be performed by the Group are in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations. During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant

impact on it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and management of the Company are committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting
the Group’s business in a transparent and responsible manner and following good
corporate governance practices will serve its long-term interests and those of
shareholders. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code to

govern its corporate governance practices.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report of the Company on pages 81 to 99

of this Annual Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to promoting awareness and decisions that contribute
to achieving environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply
fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use fuel,
water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively. We recognise
this to be a continuous process of improvement and we seek to actively look for
environmentally-friendly options and carry out environmentally-friendly practices

whenever appropriate and possible.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company on

pages 35 to 80 of this Annual Report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continuing training
and development opportunities are provided to equip them to deliver their best
performance and achieve corporate goals. During the Year, our staff continually
pursue training and career development through our policy on top of mandatory
training on anti-corruption, safety and health awareness. They also work under
motivating remuneration and reward schemes and were provided with a smoke-free,

healthy and safe working environment.

Customers’ feedback and advice could be taken into account via customer

communication channel.

The Group uses suppliers that reflect its values and commitment. The Group has
policies and procedures to select suppliers and contractors who share our social,
environmental and labour practice standards. Appropriate steps are taken to ensure

that our partners and suppliers do not employ child labour or abuse human rights.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company and further discussion and analysis
of the Group’s activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the Year, and an indication of likely
future developments of the Group’s business, can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis and the Corporate Governance
Report set out on pages 6 to 10, pages 11 to 34 and pages 81 to 99 of this Annual

Report, respectively.

In addition, the Group’s environmental, employee, customer and supplier matters
and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and the Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 35 to 80 and pages 81 to 99
of this Annual Report, respectively. These discussions form part of this Directors’
Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
EXPECTED SOURCES OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, the Group had no future plans for material investments as at the date of

this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

KPMG resigned as auditor of the Company with effect from 31 October 2023.
Prism was appointed as new auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy

following the resignation of the former auditor.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Prism who will retire at the 2024 AGM.
Prism, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. The resolution for
adjournment of re-appointment of auditor was approved by the shareholders at the
2024 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Prism as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the adjourned 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Golden Wheel
Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 134 to 283, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including material accounting policies information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties and their
possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As described in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB935,004,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 and recorded net current liabilities of approximately
RMB3,160,064,000 as at 31 December 2023. Included in the current liabilities
were bank loans of approximately RMB699,265,000 and senior notes of
approximately RMB3,304,806,000.

On 9 December 2022, the Group received a demand notice to pay the bank
loans of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB278,584,000) and
HK$374,680,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB334,690,000) which were
originally due on 31 August 2022 and the maturity date was extended to 31
October 2022. These bank loans are pledged by the Group’s completed property
for sale amounting to RMB877,095,000 as at 31 December 2022. As disclosed
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, after the appointment of
receivers, the Group has lost the control over Success Seeker Limited, Winner Year
Company Limited and Golden Wheel Bright Jade Company Limited, subsidiaries
of the Group. The receivers arranged for a tender process for the sale of the pledged
property, Golden Wheel Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong Kong (i.e. Hong
Kong Golden Wheel Plaza). Under an agreement dated 13 November 2023,
the pledged property was agreed to be sold to an independent third party at a
consideration of HK$511,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB471,142,000).
This transaction was completed on 12 January 2024. Up to the date of this report,
the Group has not repaid the bank loans of US$40,000,000 and the Company is
not aware of any other material enforcement actions taken by the bank. On the
other hand, as at 31 December 2023, senior notes and bank loans with an aggregate
amount of RMB3,970,980,000 (2022: RMB4,148,222,000) are default or cross-
default and repayable on demand. Those defaulted or cross-defaulted bank loans were
secured by the Group’s assets with an amount of approximately RMB2,319,412,000
(2022: RMB1,191,000,000) and the related banks have the right to sell, transfer
or otherwise dispose of any of those assets if the Group cannot repay the loans upon
request. Up to the date of this report, the banks have not exercised their right to

take possession of the pledged assets.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern (Continued)

In addition, as of 31 December 2023, the Group failed to repay an accumulated
interest of US$80,232,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB558,784,000) on the
senior notes during the year ended 31 December 2023 and failed to redeem 15%
of the principal amount of approximately US$494,667,000 of the senior notes,
when they were due. On 11 January 2024, the Group also failed to redeem 10% of
the principal amount of approximately US$494,667,000 of the senior notes. Such
non-payment has caused an event of default itself. Up to the date of this report, the
senior notes continue to be defaulted and the senior note holders (the “Holders”)
have not exercised their rights to require immediate redemption of the senior notes

or payment of interest.

These conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties which

may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, and to remediate certain
delayed repayments and breach of specific terms and condition of loans for the bank
loans and senior notes, which are set out in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether the Group is able to
(i) successfully complete amendments to the terms and conditions with the Holders;
(ii) successfully negotiate with the banks for renewal of existing bank loans; and (iii)
successfully expedite the sales of properties and investment properties and collection
of receivables to generate sufficient cash flows from its future operations in view of

the volatility of the China real estate market.

If the Group fails to achieve one or more of its plans and measures on a timely basis,
it may not be able to continue to operate as a going concern and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial

statements.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed a disclaimer opinion on those
statements on 30 March 2023.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board and
the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinances, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to

do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and to issue
an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. However, because of the potential interaction
of the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated
financial statements as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial

statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any other ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with

these requirements and the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report

is Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung

Practising Certificate Number: P07806

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

WE E " =F+ " H =1 —HIL4FJF For the year ended 31 December 2023

(LI B ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

CERC=EM —EE— —kE
2023 2022
M 5E AR¥TI ARWFor
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
& Revenue 4 2,387,520 2,659,946
5B A Cost of sales (2,316,166) (2,791,959)
EH, (1) Gross profit/(loss) 71,354 (132,013)
RGN T2 E) Changes in fair value of investment properties 13(a) (133,173) (44,090)
FAthdie A ~ B3 s KR 1E Other income, expenses, gains and losses 5 (163,971) (217,173)
S K B BH 32 Selling and marketing expenses (96,149) (64,173)
TR B 32 Administrative expenses (160,646) (164,127)
REEE Loss from operations (482,585) (621,576)
L A Finance costs 6(a) (318,480) (298,049)
AL B A FIRY (Bt /s A Share of (losses)/profits of associates 15 (2,871) 8,711
MEAL & ¥R R Share of losses of joint ventures 16 (56,003) (7,368)
Bt i s 48 Loss before taxation 6 (859,939) (918,282)
Bt Income tax 7 (75,065) (77,031)
FENEE Loss for the year (935,004) (995,313)
DL A A Attributable to:
AR ERE £ R Equity shareholders of the Company (1,035,100) (1,053,851)
T 45 Non-controlling interests 33 100,096 58,538
N B E Loss for the year (935,004) (995,313)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

#ZE TF T AR T H = — H IE4EFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

(AN E %(f[/ ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

RO TET T
2023 2022
s 1 AR T AR T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
FRESR Lossforcheyesr L. 03009 995313)
AN H A 2T l&ﬁ/ (BA3%) Other comprehensive income/(expense) for
(BB B 48 T 43 R B 4% ) the year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments): 10
HE A REEM A E B e 9HH ©  Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
BE NRBE LN TR & Exchange differences on translation of financial
B VS R R Y B B 2 R A statements of the entities with functional
currencies other than RMB, net 7,195 (1,860)
A A 2 W R (B ) Other comprehensive income/(expense)
R R corche Vo< _....." N (S VT
A 2 TH B 3% AE AR Total comprehensive expense for the year (927,809) (997,173)
VLR N A - Attributable to:
AR L RE £ B Equity shareholders of the Company (1,027,905) (1,055,711)
I 1 O 4 Non-controlling interests 33 100,096 58,538
AN 2w BH S AR Total comprehensive expense for the year (927,809) (997,173)
(5373 05| Loss per share 11
HAR Basic ARHF 057578 AR 0.586) 7T
RMB(0.575) RMB(0.586)
e Diluted ARM 057578 AR 0.586) 7T
RMB(0.575) RMB(0.586)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
W FE =+ H =1+—H At 31 December 2023
(AN BT R) (Expressed in Renminbi)

Y TR
2023 2022
W ANRWF ARWT T
Note RMB’000 RMB000
FMBE & Non-current assets
W3~ MR B Property, plant and equipment 12 460,541 557,580
VS L7/ES Investment properties 13 4,181,858 4,119,284
QNI £ Interests in associates 15 84,960 95,147
NG EAEs R Interests in joint ventures 16 430,247 486,250
oA 4 il G Other financial assets 17 142,164 208,823
% PRI ERAT A7 3R Restricted bank deposits 23 24,333 7,517
WAL E B Deferred tax assets 31 53,594 110,304
PR I R 5377697 5.584905
WEE & Current assets
B R M Properties under development for sale 18 1,106,666 3,331,206
EAZEREEY/ES Completed properties for sale 19 2,399,091 1,841,172
FEBERIEREEE Non-current asset held for sale 20 = 66,383
BREE Contract assets 21 434 47,462
B 5 Jo oAb JRE W IH Trade and other receivables 22 499,181 510,791
FEAT 1t 18 (BB K B 15 i Land appreciation tax and income tax prepaid 52,700 78,731
% PRI AR AT A7 3K Restricted bank deposits 23 352,708 656,671
Bae kB E&%EY Cash and cash equivalents 24 209,263 193,217
e PR 6,723,633
B AR Current liabilities
B 5 Jo HoAh R A K IH Trade and other payables 25 2,486,183 1,748,011
HHAR Contrace liabilities 26 437,395 1,892,097
TR Rental received in advance 23,802 15,927
A & Lease liabilities 27 52,344 55,922
|ATE I Bank loans 28 699,265 1,642,490
AP AR IH Current taxation 495,336 413,875
1By Senior notes 29 3,304,806 3,254,550
MR EH) Financial guarantee contract 41 280,976 -
e e e e R e e et ] e
woasEE Neccurrent liabilicies (3160066 (2,297,239)
A 7 Vo ) £ Total assets less current liabilities 2,217,633 3,287,666
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

W EFE =+ 7 H =+—H At 31 December 2023
(LN B35 7) (Expressed in Renminbi)

=48 =gg ==l
2023 2022
i A R¥For NR¥Tor
Note RMB’000 RMB000
FE B £ 45 Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 97,600 140,924
RITRER Bank loans 28 326,400 261,000
EILHIH A R Deferred tax liabilities 31 826,816 959,289
R AR —— At . D 1,250,816 1,501,213
R e NET ASSETS 966,817 1,926,453
YN CAPITAL AND RESERVES
A Share capital 32(b) 112,883 112,883
it i Reserves 32(c) 620,115 1,675,895
A2 ) E i R E A REE 25 48 7 Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 732,998 1,788,778
e M 25 Non-controlling interests 33 233,819 137,675
T 25 AR A TOTAL EQUITY 966,817 1,926,453

ARAERER FIEZA N HHBER Approved and authorised for issue by the directors of the Company on 26 March

FRAETIE -

kg
Wong Yam Yin
EH

Director

2024.

BN
Wong Kam Fai
EH

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
#HEZEF =41 H =+ —H I For the year ended 31 December 2023
(UNE 7-/}:5(5// ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

TR R
Autributable to equity shareholders of the Company
e/
Wk RBEE  WHRE AREARE BREERE  BRERE  RERE (WD) gt FEhiEs it
Retained
Property Share carnings/
Shate Shate Special Exchange  revaluation options Surplus  (Accumulated Non-controlling
capital premium feserve feserve feserve feserve feserve losses) Total nterests Total
Wt ARKFT ARKTE ABRFE ARKTE AREFE ARKTE ARETR ARKTE ARETR ARRTE ARETR
Note RMBUO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O
(W) (ko) (Wkso)  (iksoxi) (H3t30)  (Bfsk320) (Hit3)
(note 32(b)) (note 32c))  (note 32(c)i)  (note 32(ckiii) (note 30)  (note 32(c)iv) (note 33)
RERZZEA-H  Balanceat  January 2023
ik 8 g 96n 13,393 16631 L 1 N S /1 B i
ERER/RH ospuichrtheyer = - - - - - SO0 (I 1006 035004
EREBAERY Ocher comprehensive expense
for the year - - - (14662 - - - - (14,662) - (14,662)
HEAARMBATE  Rechosation adusment
PAREARBNES  ofocdugermeneupon
RS deconslication of subsidiies i - - - 21857 - - - - 21857 - 21857
Eille / (048 Tow comprehensive incomellexpense) = = = 7,195 = = = (1,035,100 (1,027,905) 100,096 (927.809)
Rbkfies Surplusreserve appropriation - - - - - - 4256 (4256) - - -
TR -AMBAT  Detegitraionofa subsdiay - - - - - - - - = (3.952) (3.952)
DRASERRRES  Bouipseced sharebused rangcions 30 - - - - - (829) - - (829) - (829)
i Oters = = (2,460 = = = = = (27,046) = (21,0460
REZZZF4TH Balanceat 3 December 2003
By iPai (1 /) 906 20,3588 16631 T W6M6 (9L TR IS 968D
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AN B
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
#HEZEF =4+ H =+ —H L% For the year ended 31 December 2023
(PINE ffk“fﬂ ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

AATERREN
Autributable to equity shareholders of the Company
WE REEE  RURE ARELRE DEECRE  BRERE  ERRE  REEA st ARRES 4t
Property
Share Share Special Exchange  revaluation Share Surplus Retained Non-controlling
aapital premium feserve feserve teserve  options feserve reserve earnings Total interests Total
Mt MR AREFL AREFT AREFT  AREFT AREFT AREFT ARBEFT AREFT ARETR ARETR
Note RMBU0 RIBU0 RMBUD RMBY0 RMBY0 RMBOD RMBOD RMBOD RMBOw RMB 000 RMB 000
(BrEsoml (R soon) (B o) (B i) (300 (Bt3Esaim) (H3t33)
(note320)  (note 3A0)  (note 32KiD)  (note 32(c)ii) (note 30 (note 32(c)iv) (note 33)
RERZZEA=H  Balanceat  January 2022
) ﬁ% I %7@8}% e }l?,éﬁ 77777 DR l@@ . 1603 191,388 1912,36 2844489 86,06 1930499
(g8 /A (Lospofic o e year = 5 s - - £ S B 58 AT ORIE)
EREbAER Ocher comprehensive expense
for the year = = = (1,860) = S - = (1,860) = (1,860)
A B30 /WA EE ol comprehensive espenseincome . = . (1860) & = S (B8 (s 58,538 (997,173)
Rbkfies Surplusreserve appropriation - - - - - - 10382 (10,382) - - -
E-HKEAR Acquiston ofa subsidiay 3 . - = - . - . . - 6869) 6869)
REBZZELZA Balance at 31 December 2022
S-pzkk g 4 1967 1338 1661 N o/ T i S 1) B U
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HEBlemER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-F=F A

=+ H LR

- For the year ended 31 December 2023

(AN BT R) (Expressed in Renminbi)

—F = TR
2023 2022
Bif st ANRH T ANRETT
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
REEH Operating activities
R s Bl Cash generated from operations 24(b) 553,627 4,143
Bﬁfﬁﬁlﬁ Tax paid (170,714) (197,759)
B ﬁ‘/ () Bl ma Net cash generated from/(used in)
77777777777777 operating activities 382,913 (193,616)
BEWE D) Investing activities
FEHE WA E Interest received from bank deposits 5(a) 12,012 20,110
Eﬁ =L/ERN N E T Purchases of property, plant and equipment (129) (111)
gL/ ES | Addition to investment properties (59,200) (121,698)
EREE&oE IV ITEd < Investment received from joint ventures - 13,319
B EWE - BE & Proceeds received from disposal of
R U 2 P A I property, plant and equipment 6,527 21,831
& BEY 2 g Gain on disposal of investment properties 52,856 447,718
ERCEiS-¢/E QIS TR T ¢ Proceeds received from disposals of
investment properties 701 5,968
W B — T B 2 ) 2 B A Cash inflow upon acquisition of a subsidiary - 200,310
WA A ARME AR Z Cash outflow upon deconsolidation of
BAaRH subsidiaries 40 (6,409) L
] W T B A SRR AR AR Advance to associates and joint ventures - (2,194)
(NI G e TN Repayment received from associates and
joint ventures - 1,779
B&ED (i A) / i B 4 Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities 6,358 587,032
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HERBEwmER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

#HEZEF =4+ H =+ —H I For the year ended 31 December 2023

(LN B35 7) (Expressed in Renminbi)

—%—= —E- 4
2023 2022
i ARHF AR ¥TFr
Note RMB’000 RMB000
il 5 3 ) Financing activities
B A A R AR SE G Advance from associates and joint ventures 2,567 39,257
) W ) T B o A R 3K Repayment to associates and joint ventures (5,676) (1,173)
SO EEAT 18 S SR A MR A B S Payment of expense attributable to issue of
senior notes 24(c) = (46,196)
AT BT 15 3H Proceeds from bank loans 24(c) 38,800 67,300
B 1R AT Repayment of bank loans 24(c) (277,090) (586,101)
i e {5 Sl 22 4 Repurchase of senior notes 24(c) = (1,663)
HRBLERASH Repayment of principal of senior notes 24(c) - (171,292)
& A FLE Interest paid 24(c) (74,222) (150,680)
AL ST B SR 1 A2 5K Placement of deposits pledged for bank loans - 352,055
BB S GRS Capital element of lease rentals paid 24(c) (46,902) (38,317)
B A FH B L 4 R B4 Interest element of lease rentals paid 24(c) (10,956) (12,334)
il 5 T i I B & i A Net cash used in financing activities (373,479) (549,144)
ﬁfﬁ&ﬁﬁgﬂg%i@jﬂ/ (W) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
FH cash equivalents 15,792 (155,728)
R—H—HWBEEEHESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 24(a) 193,217 346,910
A1 M R 32 5 ) 5 ¢ Effect of foreign exchanges rates changes 254 2,035
REZA=Z+—HWMBE& K Cash and cash equivalents at
BEEHED 31 December 24(a) 209,263 193,217
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(BRIFE 2N S0 LU BB ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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(T2 fr J) L

AT By — WA BB R R o A B
W&~ ) (LU SR (A4 ) ERft s
WSEEERE ~ W)SEM I Sl B -
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GENERAL

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted Company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2012 and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) with effect
from 16 January 2013.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the property development, property leasing and hotel

operation.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS Accounting
Standards”), which collective term includes all individual IFRS Accounting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These
financial statements also comply with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are

disclosed below.

The TASB has issued certain new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior

accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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